# Differential Geometry of Indefinite Complex Submanifolds in Indefinite Complex Space Forms

Alfonso Romero<sup>1,\*</sup>, Young Jin Suh<sup>2,\*\*</sup>

 Departamento de Geometría y Topología, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Granada, 18071-Granada, Spain
 Department of Mathematics, Kyungpook National University, Taegu, 702-701, Korea

e-mail: aromero@ugr.es, yjsuh@wmail.knu.ac.kr

(Presented by Manuel de León)

AMS Subject Class. (2000): 53C50, 53C55, 53C56

Revised version received July 26, 2004

Dedicated to Professor Hisao Nakagawa on the occasion of his retirement

## Introduction

Classically, a Kaehler structure consists of a Riemann metric and a complex structure, which are related by well known compatibility conditions. The Riemann metric is then called a Kaehler metric. If a Kaehler metric is allowed to be non-degenerate and non-definite, the concept of indefinite Kaehler structure appears naturally. So, we have a geometry which is, at the same time, complex and semi-Riemannian. Besides its purely mathematical interest, indefinite Kaehler geometry (in the case of index 2) could be seen, from the point of view of Physics, as a synthesis of two important geometries: the Lorentzian geometry of space-time and the symplectic geometry of phase space. The indefinite Kaehler metric is a complex version of the Lorentzian metric and the Kaehler form is a covariant version of the classical symplectic form. It is argued in G. Kaiser [22] that indefinite Kaehler geometry could be a unifying geometry to study holomorphic bundles on complexifications of space-time.

M. Barros and the first author [7] systematically introduced indefinite Kaehler manifolds and studied several properties involving their curvature.

<sup>\*</sup>Supported by MCYT-FEDER Grant BFM2001-2871-C04-01.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Supported by Grant R14-2002-003-01001-0 from Korea Science and Engineering Foundation.

After introducing the standard spaces of constant holomorphic sectional curvature (that is, the simply connected complete indefinite complex space forms) [7], [61], it is natural to think about their complex submanifolds. These are taken to be non-degenerate in the sense that the induced metric becomes non-degenerate. Therefore, a complex submanifold itself has an indefinite Kaehler structure, namely, the inherited one from the ambient space. So, sometimes non-degenerate complex submanifolds are also called as indefinite Kaehler submanifolds.

Our viewpoint to study complex submanifolds will be the differential geometric one, that is, with emphasis on the semi-Riemannian metric as in K. Ogiue [42] and A. Ros [49]. In the definite case, complex submanifolds of relevant Kaehler manifolds were previously well known in Algebraic Geometry, in fact, several complex submanifolds are important algebraic varieties. However, we have to construct good examples of complex submanifolds which we will study later. It will be shown that the behavior of (non-degenerate) complex submanifolds in indefinite complex space forms is quite different to that known in the definite case. We can say that the geometrical properties are richer in the indefinite case, and, sometimes, so rich that some natural geometric assumptions don't lead to expected classifications. We will construct and explain many examples of complex submanifolds in several indefinite complex space forms. Then, we will give a number of results, which will be compared with the definite case. Both for the convenience of the reader and for historical reasons, we will deal first with complex hypersurfaces. Then, we will consider complex submanifolds of higher codimension, although the case of hypersurfaces will be eventually looked at again. Furthermore, some current problems and remarks are explained in the hope of giving an extensive panoramic view of the research on this topic.

To end this section we would like to point out that we have chosen here the so called *complex approach* to complex submanifolds. As it is well known there is another approach (the *real approach*). Our choice treats to unify several results obtained from the two different approaches. In order to keep a reasonable length of the paper we have not used both ones simultaneously. The reader interested can consult [42] where both approaches were simultaneously used in the positive definite case. Using [42] is not difficult to *translate* the content which follows to real notation.

## Contents

## CHAPTER 1. LINEAR PRELIMINARIES

- 1.1 Scalar product vector spaces
- 1.2 Complexifications
- 1.3 Hermitian scalar products

## CHAPTER 2. INDEFINITE KAEHLER MANIFOLDS

- 2.1 Complex manifolds
- 2.2 The notion of indefinite Kaehler manifold
- 2.3 Local formulas for indefinite Kaehler submanifolds

## Chapter 3. Complex hypersurfaces

- 3.1 Preliminaries
- 3.2 Proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces
- 3.3 Non-proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces
- 3.4 Complex hypersurfaces with parallel Ricci tensor
- 3.5 Semi-symmetric complex hypersurfaces

## Chapter 4. Complex submanifolds

- 4.1 Examples of indefinite complex submanifolds
- 4.2 Rigidity of holomorphic isometric immersions
- 4.3 Spacelike complex submanifolds
- 4.4 Complex submanifolds of definite complex space forms

## Chapter 5. Totally real bisectional curvature

- 5.1 Motivations
- 5.2 Complete Kaehler manifolds with positive totally real bisectional curvature
- 5.3 Spacelike complex submanifolds with lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature
- 5.4 Complex submanifolds with lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature of definite complex space forms

## Chapter 1. Linear preliminaries

1.1. Scalar product vector spaces. Let V be an m-dimensional vector space over  $\mathbb{R}$ , which is called a real vector space. Given a symmetric bilinear form b on V, two vectors v and w of V are said to be orthogonal with respect to b, written  $v \perp w$ , provided b(v,w) = 0. Thus, b is called a scalar product provided that it is non-degenerate, that is, b(v,w) = 0 for any vector w in V implies v = 0, equivalently when the only vector which is orthogonal to any other is the zero vector. The symmetric bilinear form b is an inner product provided that it is positive definite. For a real vector space V equipped with a scalar product b, a vector v in V is said to be spacelike, null or timelike, according as b(v,v) > 0 or v = 0, b(v,v) = 0 and  $v \neq 0$  or b(v,v) < 0, respectively. It is easily seen that there is a null vector in V if and only if neither b nor -b is an inner product.

In the sequel, V will denote a scalar product space, that is, a real vector space furnished with a scalar product b. Let W be a subspace of V. Then the restriction b|W to W of the scalar product is also symmetric and bilinear, but not necessarily non-degenerate. In fact, for a 1-dimensional subspace W spanned by a null vector, b|W is degenerate. A subspace W is said to be non-degenerate if b|W is non-degenerate.

The index of the scalar product b on V is defined to be the largest integer ind V which is the dimension of a subspace W of V such that b|W is negative definite. Thus the index s satisfies  $0 \le s \le m$  and s = 0 if and only if b is positive definite.

Two subsets A and B of V are said to be *orthogonal*, denoted by  $A \perp B$ , provided that v and w are orthogonal for all v of A and w of B. For a subspace W of V, the set  $W^{\perp}$  consisting of vectors v of V such that  $v \perp W$  becomes a subspace, which is called the W-perpendicular subspace. The following properties concerning about the perpendicular operation are well known.

LEMMA 1.1.1. If W is a subspace of a scalar product space V, then we have

- $(1) \quad \dim W + \dim W^{\perp} = \dim V;$
- (2)  $(W^{\perp})^{\perp} = W$ :
- (3) W is non-degenerate if and only if V is the direct sum decomposition of W and  $W^{\perp}$ .

Observe that, because of this property it follows that W is non-degenerate if and only if  $W^{\perp}$  is also so.

A vector v of V is said to be *unit* provided that  $b(v,v)=\pm 1$ . As usual a set of mutually orthogonal unit vectors is said to be orthonormal. The following result is also well known.

LEMMA 1.1.2. For a vector space V with a scalar product b we have the following properties:

- (1) There exists an orthonormal basis  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_m\}$  for V, that is,  $b(e_i, e_j) = \epsilon_i \delta_{ij}$ , where  $\epsilon_j = b(e_j, e_j) = \pm 1$ ;
- (2) Each vector v of V has a unique expression

$$v = \sum \epsilon_j b(v, e_j) e_j;$$

- (3) For any orthonormal basis  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_m\}$  for V, the number of negative signs in the signature  $(\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_m)$  is equal to the index s of V;
- (4) If W is non-degenerate, then we have

ind 
$$V = \text{ind } W + \text{ind } W^{\perp}$$
.

1.2. Complexifications. A complex structure on a real vector space V,  $\dim V = m \geq 1$ , is a linear operator J of V such that  $J^2 = -I$ , where I stands for the identity transformation of V. A vector space furnished with a complex structure J can be made a vector space over  $\mathbb C$  by defining a scalar multiplication by complex numbers as follows:

$$(a+ib)v = av + bJv$$
 for any  $v \in V$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

where i denotes the imaginary unit. This complex vector space is denoted by  $V_J$ . Since  $v\neq 0$  and Jv are linearly independent, the dimension m of V must be even and m/2 is the complex dimension of  $V_J$ .

Conversely, given a complex vector space V of complex dimension n, let J be the linear operator of V defined by Jv = iv for any  $v \in V$ . Then V can be regarded as a real vector space if real scalars are only used, and it is of dimension 2n and J is a complex structure of V.

LEMMA 1.2.1. For a 2n-dimensional real vector space V with a complex structure J, there exists a basis  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n, Jv_1, \ldots, Jv_n\}$ .

Now, let V be an m-dimensional real vector space and  $V^c$  be the complexification of V. The set  $V^c$  is by definition the set of vectors v + iw for

any vectors v and w of V, and the sum and the scalar multiplication defined naturally on  $V^c$  by

$$(v_1 + iw_1) + (v_2 + iw_2) = (v_1 + v_2) + i(w_1 + w_2),$$
  
 $(a + ib)(v + iw) = (av - bw) + i(aw + bv),$ 

for any vectors  $v, w, v_j, w_j$  (j = 1, 2) of V and any  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is easy to see that  $V^c$ , endowed with these operations, is a complex vector space of complex dimension m. Then V can be regarded as a real subspace of  $V^c$  in a natural way. In fact, if we call v - iw the conjugate vector of v + iw, noted  $\overline{v + iw}$ , then a vector of  $V^c$  which equals to its conjugate is called a real vector. Thus, V can be naturally regarded as the real vectors of  $V^c$ .

For a linear operator f of V, a natural extension  $f^c$  from  $V^c$  to  $V^c$  is defined by  $f^c(v+iw)=f(v)+if(w)$ . Then it is easily seen that  $f^c$  is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear and the extension is unique in a natural way. In fact, let f' be another extension of f, that is, f'(v)=f(v) for any vector v of V. Since f' is also  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear, the relationship

$$f'(v+iw) = f'(v) + if'(w) = f(v) + if(w) = f^{c}(v+iw)$$

follows for any vectors v and w of V.

Remark 1.2.2. For a vector space V with a complex structure J the complex vector space  $V_J$  ought to be distinguished from the complexification of  $V^c$  of V.

Concerned with a basis for the complexification  $V^c$  of V it is easily seen that the following property holds true.

LEMMA 1.2.3. A basis  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_m\}$  for a real vector space V is also a basis for the complex vector space  $V^c$ .

We assume next that V is a real 2n-dimensional vector space equipped with a complex structure J. Then J can be uniquely extended to a complex linear operator  $J^c$  of  $V^c$  and it satisfies  $J^{c2} = -I$ . The eigenvalues of  $J^c$  are therefore i and -i. Let  $V^{1,0}$  and  $V^{0,1}$  be the eigenspaces of  $J^c$  corresponding to the eigenvalues i and -i, respectively. On the other hand, the dual space  $V^*$  of V admits a complex structure  $J^*$  defined by  $(J^*\omega)(v) = \omega(Jv)$ ,  $\omega \in V^*$ ,  $v \in V$ . Then, similarly the complexification  $V^{*c}$  of the dual space  $V^*$  admits the complex structure  $J^{*c}$  which is the natural extension of  $J^*$ . Let  $V_{1,0}$  and  $V_{0,1}$  be the eigenspaces of  $J^{*c}$  corresponding to the eigenvalues i and -i, respectively. The following result is then easy to prove.

PROPOSITION 1.2.4. We have the direct sum decompositions as complex vector spaces  $V^c = V^{1,0} \oplus V^{0,1}$ ,  $V^{*c} = V_{1,0} \oplus V_{0,1}$ , where

$$V^{1,0} = \{v - iJv : v \in V\}, \quad V^{0,1} = \{v + iJv : v \in V\};$$

$$V_{1,0} = \{\omega \in V^{*c} : \omega(v) = 0 \text{ for all } v \in V^{0,1}\},$$

$$V_{0,1} = \{\omega \in V^{*c} : \omega(v) = 0 \text{ for all } v \in V^{1,0}\}.$$

1.3. HERMITIAN SCALAR PRODUCTS. A Hermitian scalar product g on a real vector space V with a complex structure J is a scalar product g on V which is J-invariant; that is, g satisfies

$$g(Jv, Jw) = g(v, w) \quad \text{for any } v \text{ and } w \text{ of } V.$$
 (1.3.1)

It is usually said that the Hermitian scalar product g on V is compatible with the complex structure J.

In order to explain this terminology, the concept of a Hermitian scalar product on a complex vector space V' is introduced. It is by definition a  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued function h on  $V' \times V'$  such that

- (1) h(v', w') is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear in v';
- (2)  $h(w', v') = \overline{h(v', w')};$
- (3) h is non-degenerate in the sense that h(v', w') = 0 for any vector w' of V' implies that v' = 0.

Suppose that the complex vector space  $V_J$ , induced from a 2n-dimensional real vector space V with a complex structure J, admits a Hermitian scalar product h. If a real-valued function g on  $V \times V$  is defined as the real part of h, then g is a Hermitian scalar product on (V, J).

In fact, for any v and w of V, the function g is given by

$$q(v, w) = \{h(v, w) + h(w, v)\}/2,$$

from which it is easy to see that g is symmetric and bilinear. That g(v, w) = 0 for any w of V implies that h(v, w) is pure imaginary, say ia,  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then h(v, Jw) becomes also so and moreover we have

$$h(v, Jw) = h(v, iw) = -ih(v, w) = a,$$

which yields that

$$a = -ih(v, w) = 0$$
 for any  $w$  of  $V$ .

It means that g is non-degenerate, since h does so. Furthermore it satisfies

$$g(Jv, Jw) = \operatorname{Re} h(iv, iw) = \operatorname{Re} h(v, w) = g(v, w).$$

In particular, we have

$$h(v, w) = g(v, w) - ig(Jv, w). (1.3.2)$$

Conversely, for a real vector space V with a complex structure J and a Hermitian scalar product g, a complex valued function h on  $V_J \times V_J$  is defined by (1.3.2). A simple computation shows that h satisfies conditions (1) and (2) of the previous notion of Hermitian scalar product. Condition (3), that is the non-degeneracy of h, is only here asserted. Suppose that h(X,Y) = 0 for any vector Y of  $V_J$ . We put X = (a+ib)v,  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $v \in V$  with  $v \neq 0$ . For any vector w in  $V \subset V_J$  we then have

$$\begin{split} h(X,w) &= ah(v,w) + bh(Jv,w) \\ &= \{ag(v,w) + bg(Jv,w)\} + i\{-ag(Jv,w) + bg(v,w)\} \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$(a^2 + b^2)g(v, w) = (a^2 + b^2)g(Jv, w) = 0,$$

for any w and therefore a = b = 0; that is, X = 0.

Accordingly, a Hermitian scalar product h on  $V_J$  corresponds one to one to that on (V, J), and from this fact it is said that the Hermitian scalar product q is compatible with the complex structure J.

Now, for a real vector space V endowed with a complex structure J and a Hermitian scalar product g, there exists a natural extension of g on  $V^c$  which is denoted by the same symbol. The extension g is defined by

$$g(X_1, X_2) = \{g(v_1, v_2) - g(w_1, w_2)\} + i\{g(v_1, w_2) + g(w_1, v_2)\}$$
 (1.3.3)

for any vectors  $X_j = v_j + iw_j$  of  $V^c$ , j = 1, 2. The proof of the following result is straightforward.

PROPOSITION 1.3.1. Let g be a Hermitian scalar product on a real vector space V with a complex structure J. Then g can be uniquely extended to a symmetric  $\mathbb{C}$ -bilinear form on  $V^c$  and it satisfies the following properties:

- (1)  $g(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}) = \overline{g(X, Y)};$
- (2) g is non-degenerate;
- (3) g(X,Y) = 0 for any X and Y in  $V^{1,0}$  or in  $V^{0,1}$ .

Conversely, every symmetric  $\mathbb{C}$ -bilinear form g on  $V^c$  satisfying the previous (1), (2) and (3) is the natural extension of a Hermitian scalar product on V.

Remark 1.3.2. For the natural extension g to  $V^c$  of the Hermitian scalar product g of V, the complex valued function on  $V^c \times V^c$  defined by

$$h(X,Y) = g(X,\bar{Y})$$

is a Hermitian scalar product on  $V^c$ .

For details in this section, see Kobayashi and Nomizu [25] and O'Neill [44], for instance.

## Chapter 2. Indefinite Kaehler manifolds

2.1. Complex manifolds. An almost complex structure J of a real manifold M is a tensor field of type (1,1) which satisfies  $J_x^2 = -I_x$  at any point x of M, where  $I_x$  is the identity transformation of the tangent space  $T_xM$ . A manifold furnished with an almost complex structure is called an almost complex manifold. As is well known, an almost complex manifold is orientable and of even dimension.

Now, we recall that a complex manifold M, with complex dimension n, carries a natural almost complex structure given as follows:

For a complex coordinate system  $\{z^j\}$  with  $z^j = x^j + iy^j$  in a coordinate (open) neighborhood around x of M, it is seen that  $\{x^1, y^1, \dots, x^n, y^n\}$  is a real local coordinate system of M and hence

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^1}\right)_x, \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^1}\right)_x, \dots, \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^n}\right)_x, \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^n}\right)_x$$

gives a basis for  $T_xM$ . An operator  $J_x$  of  $T_xM$  can be defined by

$$J_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}\right)_x = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\right)_x, \qquad J_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\right)_x = -\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}\right)_x,$$
 (2.1.1)

 $<sup>^1 \</sup>mathrm{In}$  this lecture note, manifolds and other geometric objects are assumed to be of class  $C^{\infty}.$ 

for j = 1, ..., n. Then the definition of  $J_x$  is independent of the choice of the complex coordinate system around x.

In fact, let  $\{w^j\}$  with  $w=u^j+iv^j$  be another complex coordinate system. Since  $z^j=x^j+iy^j$  is holomorphic, the following Cauchy-Riemann equations hold true on a neighborhood of x,

$$\frac{\partial x^j}{\partial u^k} = \frac{\partial y^j}{\partial v^k}, \qquad \frac{\partial x^j}{\partial v^k} = -\frac{\partial y^j}{\partial u^k},$$

for j, k = 1, ..., n.

On the other hand, we always have for any k

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u^k}\right)_x = \sum_j \left\{ \left(\frac{\partial x^j}{\partial u^k}\right)_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}\right)_x + \left(\frac{\partial y^j}{\partial u^k}\right)_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\right)_x \right\},\,$$

from which together with the definition of  $J_x$  it follows that

$$J\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u^k}\right)_x = \sum_j \left\{ \left(\frac{\partial x^j}{\partial u^k}\right)_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\right)_x - \left(\frac{\partial y^j}{\partial u^k}\right)_x \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}\right)_x \right\}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial v^k}\right)_x.$$

Similarly, we get

$$J_x \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial v^k} \right)_x = -\left( \frac{\partial}{\partial u^k} \right)_x,$$

which means that the definition (2.1.1) of  $J_x$  is independent of the choice of the coordinate neighborhoods. The tensor field J which assigns to each point x of M the operator  $J_x$  is smooth, since the components of J relative to the local coordinate system  $\{x^1, y^1, \ldots, x^n, y^n\}$ , induced from the complex coordinate system in a neighborhood, are given by either of 0, 1 and -1. The definition of J yields

$$J_x^2 = -I_x$$
 at any point  $x$ ,

and hence J is an almost complex structure of M. The almost complex structure J on a complex manifold M described here is said to be induced by the complex structure of M, in fact, J is then called a *complex structure*.

The complexification  $T_xM^c$  of the tangent space at any point x,  $T_xM$ , of a real manifold M is called the *complex tangent space* at x. A *complex vector field* Z is uniquely expressed as Z = X + iY, where X and Y are real vector

fields. If we denote by  $D^rM$  the space of r-forms on M, then an element of the complexification  $D^rM^c$  of  $D^rM$  is called a *complex r-form* on M. Every complex r-form  $\omega$  may be written as  $\omega' + i\omega''$ , where  $\omega'$  and  $\omega''$  are real r-forms on M.

Suppose that M is an almost complex manifold with an almost complex structure J. By means of Proposition 1.2.4 we have the direct sum decompositions

$$T_x M^c = T_x M^{1,0} \oplus T_x M^{0,1}, \qquad T_x M^{*c} = D_x^{1,0} \oplus D_x^{0,1},$$

where  $T_x M^{1,0}$  and  $T_x M^{0,1}$  (resp.  $D_x^{1,0}$  and  $D_x^{0,1}$ ) denote the eigenspaces of J (resp. of  $J^*$ ) corresponding to the eigenvalues i and -i. A complex tangent vector at a point x (resp. a complex 1-form) is said to be of type (1,0) or (0,1) if it belongs to  $T_x M^{1,0}$  or  $T_x M^{0,1}$  (resp. to  $D_x^{1,0}$  or  $D_x^{0,1}$ ). In particular, let M be a complex manifold and  $\{z^j\}$  with  $z^j = x^j + iy^j$  be a complex coordinate system of M. When we set

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z^j} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial y^j} \Big), \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^j} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial y^j} \Big),$$

the complex vector  $\frac{\partial}{\partial z^j}$  is the component of type (1,0) of  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}$ , and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^j}$  is the component of type (0,1) of  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}$ . Moreover, the complex vector fields

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial z^n}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^n}$$
 (2.1.2)

are said to be a natural complex frame field which form, at any point x of the corresponding neighborhood, a basis for the complex tangent space  $T_xM^c$ . From the previous construction of the complex structure J it follows that  $\frac{\partial}{\partial z^1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial}{\partial z^n}$  (resp.  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^n}$ ) form a basis for  $T_xM^{1,0}$  (resp. for  $T_xM^{0,1}$ ) at each point x of the coordinate neighborhood.

Since  $dz^j = dx^j + idy^j$  and  $d\bar{z}^j = dx^j - idy^j$ , we see that

$$dz^1, \dots, dz^n, d\bar{z}^1, \dots, d\bar{z}^n$$

form, at any point x, the dual basis corresponding to the basis (2.1.2) of  $T_xM^c$  and  $dz^1, \ldots, dz^n$  (resp.  $d\bar{z}^1, \ldots, d\bar{z}^n$ ) form a basis of  $D_x^{1,0}$  (resp. of  $D_x^{0,1}$ ).

For the details in this section see Kobayashi and Nomizu [25].

2.2. The notion of indefinite Kaehler manifold. An indefinite Hermitian metric on an almost complex manifold M is an indefinite Riemannian metric g invariant under the almost complex structure J, i.e., g is a non-degenerate symmetric tensor field of type (0,2) on M (hence with constant index) and it satisfies

$$g(JX, JY) = g(X, Y)$$

for any vector fields X and Y of M. An indefinite Hermitian metric thus defines a Hermitian scalar product on each tangent space  $T_xM$  with respect to the almost complex structure J. A (complex) n-dimensional complex manifold endowed with an indefinite Hermitian metric (with respect to its complex structure J) is called an *indefinite Hermitian manifold*. Accordingly, Jv is spacelike (resp. null or timelike) for any spacelike (resp. null or timelike) vector v of  $T_xM$ , and hence the index of g is an even number 2s,  $0 \le s \le n$ .

Throughout this section the following convention of the ranges on indices is used:

$$A, B, \dots = 1, \dots, n, \bar{1}, \dots, \bar{n};$$
  

$$i, j, \dots = 1, \dots, n;$$
  

$$j^* = j + n.$$

For a complex coordinate system  $\{z^j\}$  of M, we put

$$\{Z_A\} = \{Z_j, Z_{\bar{j}}\}, \qquad Z_j = \frac{\partial}{\partial z^j}, \qquad Z_{\bar{j}} = \bar{Z}_j = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^j}.$$
 (2.2.1)

Given an indefinite Hermitian metric g, the Hermitian scalar product, defined by  $g_x$ , on each tangent space  $T_xM$  can be extended, making use of Proposition 1.3.1, to a complex symmetric bilinear form g on the complex tangent space  $T_xM^c$ . We set

$$q_{AB} = q(Z_A, Z_B).$$
 (2.2.2)

Since g satisfies (1) and (3) of Proposition 1.3.1 and  $Z_j$  (resp.  $Z_{\bar{j}}$ ) is of type (1,0) (resp. of type (0,1)), we have

$$g_{jk} = g_{\bar{j}\bar{k}} = 0 (2.2.3)$$

and  $(g_{j\bar{k}})$  is an  $n \times n$  Hermitian matrix. It is then customary to express

$$ds^2 = 2\sum g_{j\bar{k}}dz^j d\bar{z}^k \tag{2.2.4}$$

for the metric g. Let  $g_{jk}, g_{jk^*}, g_{j^*k}$  and  $g_{j^*k^*}$  be the components of the indefinite Hermitian metric g with respect to the basis  $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\}$ , where  $z^j = x^j + iy^j$ . Since g is J-invariant, we have

$$g_{jk} = g_{j^*k^*}, \qquad g_{j^*k} = -g_{jk^*}, \qquad (2.2.5)$$

where the same symbol denotes both the indefinite Hermitian metric g and its natural extension to complex tangent vectors. With respect to  $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial y^j}\}$  the metric g is written as

$$ds^{2} = \sum (g_{jk}dx^{j}dx^{k} + g_{jk^{*}}dx^{j}dy^{k} + g_{j^{*}k}dy^{j}dx^{k} + g_{j^{*}k^{*}}dy^{j}dy^{k}).$$

Now the fundamental 2-form  $\Phi$  of M is defined by

$$\Phi(X,Y) = q(X,JY)$$

for any vector fields X and Y on M, which is also called the Kaehler form of g. An indefinite Hermitian manifold M such that its associated fundamental 2-form is closed is said to be an *indefinite Kaehler manifold*.

The fundamental 2-form  $\Phi$  may be naturally extended to complex vector fields  $V = \sum \{dz^j(V)Z_j + d\bar{z}^j(V)\bar{Z}_j\}$  and  $W = \sum \{dz^j(W)Z_j + d\bar{z}^j(W)\bar{Z}_j\}$  on M. A simple computation shows that this extension is written

$$\Phi = -2i \sum g_{j\bar{k}} dz^j \wedge d\bar{z}^k. \tag{2.2.6}$$

On the other hand, given complex vector fields U and V on M, say U = X + iX' and V = Y + iY', the bracket [U, V] is defined by

$$[U,V] = \Big\{ [X,Y] - [X',Y'] \Big\} + i \Big\{ [X,Y'] + [X',Y] \Big\}.$$

It is easy to see that

$$d\Phi(U, V, W) = d\Phi(X, Y, Z) - d\Phi(X, Y', Z') - d\Phi(X', Y, Z') - d\Phi(X', Y', Z) + i \Big\{ d\Phi(X, Y, Z') + d\Phi(X, Y', Z) + d\Phi(X', Y, Z) - d\Phi(X', Y', Z') \Big\},$$

for any complex vector fields,  $U=X+iX',\,V=Y+iY'$  and W=Z+iZ'; which implies that the fundamental 2-form  $\Phi$  is closed if and only if the indefinite metric g satisfies

$$\frac{\partial g_{i\bar{j}}}{\partial z^{k}} = \frac{\partial g_{k\bar{j}}}{\partial z^{i}}, \qquad \frac{\partial g_{i\bar{j}}}{\partial \bar{z}^{k}} = \frac{\partial g_{i\bar{k}}}{\partial \bar{z}^{j}}.$$

Therefore, by using here exactly the same argument which classically works in the definite case, one finds

PROPOSITION 2.2.1. Let M be an indefinite Hermitian manifold with an indefinite Hermitian metric g and a complex structure J. The fundamental 2-form  $\Phi$  is closed if and only if  $\nabla J = 0$ , where  $\nabla$  denotes the Levi-Civita connection corresponding to g.

We end this section with several remarks relating the existence of an indefinite Kaehler metric on a manifold to some restrictions on its topology.

- (a) If (M, g, J) is an indefinite Hermitian manifold, then M admits a J-invariant (i.e. holomorphic) distribution of dimension the index of g.
- (b) On the other hand, taking into account the fundamental 2-form of an indefinite Kaehler manifold (M, g, J), M may be contemplated as a symplectic manifold. Thus, if M is assumed to be compact, then, according to the well known Hodge-Lichnerowicz's Theorem, any of its even Betti numbers is not zero (see [45, Theorem 8.8], for instance).
- (c) Finally, it is a relevant fact that several examples of compact manifolds which admit indefinite Kaehler metrics but do not admit any positive definite Kaehler metric were found in [6].
- 2.3. LOCAL FORMULAS FOR INDEFINITE KAEHLER SUBMANIFOLDS. First of all we recall several well known local formulas for the curvature tensor (in complex notation) of an indefinite Kaehler manifold, which are adapted to one of its non-degenerate complex submanifolds. Let  $(\widetilde{M}, g', J)$  be an (n+p)-dimensional (connected) indefinite Kaehler manifold of index 2(s+t),  $(n\geq 2,\ 0\leq s\leq n,\ 0\leq t\leq p)$ , and let M be an n-dimensional non-degenerate complex submanifold of index 2s of  $\widetilde{M}$ . We can choose a local orthonormal frame field  $\{E_A\} = \{E_1, ..., E_{n+p}\}$  on an open subset of  $\widetilde{M}$  in such a way that, restricted to M,  $E_1, ..., E_n$  are tangent to M and the others are normal to M. Here and in the sequel the following convention on the range of indices, unless otherwise stated, is used:

$$A, B, \ldots = 1, \ldots, n, n + 1, \ldots, n + p;$$
  
 $i, j, \ldots = 1, \ldots, n;$   
 $x, y, \ldots = n + 1, \ldots, n + p.$ 

With respect to this frame field, let  $\{\omega_A\} = \{\omega_i, \omega_y\}$  be its (local) dual frame field. Namely, it satisfies

$$\omega_A(E_B) = g'(E_A, E_B) = \epsilon_A \delta_{AB},$$

and, therefore we can write  $g' = 2 \sum_{A} \epsilon_{A} \omega_{A} \otimes \bar{\omega}_{A}$  where  $\{\epsilon_{A}\} = \{\epsilon_{i}, \epsilon_{x}\}$  are given by

$$\epsilon_i = -1 \text{ or } 1 \text{ according to } 1 \le i \le s \text{ or } s+1 \le i \le n,$$
  
 $\epsilon_x = -1 \text{ or } 1 \text{ according to } n+1 \le x \le n+t \text{ or } n+t+1 \le x \le n+p.$ 

The canonical forms  $\omega_A$  and the connection forms  $\omega_{AB}$  of the ambient space  $\widetilde{M}$  satisfy the structure equations:

$$d\omega_A + \sum_B \epsilon_B \omega_{AB} \wedge \omega_B = 0, \qquad \omega_{AB} + \bar{\omega}_{BA} = 0,$$
 (2.3.1)

$$d\omega_{AB} + \sum_{C} \epsilon_{C} \omega_{AC} \wedge \omega_{CB} = \Omega'_{AB},$$

$$\Omega'_{AB} = \sum_{CD} \epsilon_{C} \epsilon_{D} R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}} \omega_{C} \wedge \bar{\omega}_{D},$$
(2.3.2)

where  $\Omega'_{AB}$  (resp.  $R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}}$ ) denotes the components of the Riemannian curvature 2-form  $\Omega'$  (resp. the components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R') of  $\widetilde{M}$ .

The second equation of (2.3.1) means the skew-Hermitian symmetry of  $\Omega'_{AB}$ , which is equivalent to

$$R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}} = \bar{R}'_{\bar{B}AD\bar{C}}.$$

The Bianchi identities  $\sum_{B} \epsilon_{B} \Omega'_{AB} \wedge \omega_{B} = 0$  obtained from (2.3.1) and (2.3.2), taking exterior differentiation, give the further symmetric relations

$$R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}} = R'_{\bar{A}CB\bar{D}} = R'_{\bar{D}BC\bar{A}} = R'_{\bar{D}CB\bar{A}}.$$
 (2.3.3)

Now, with respect to the previously chosen frame, the Ricci tensor S' of  $\widetilde{M}$  can be expressed as follows

$$S' = \sum_{CD} \epsilon_C \epsilon_D (S'_{C\bar{D}} \omega_C \otimes \bar{\omega}_D + S'_{\bar{C}D} \bar{\omega}_C \otimes \omega_D),$$

where  $S'_{C\bar{D}} = \sum_{B} \epsilon_B R_{\bar{B}BC\bar{D}} = S'_{\bar{D}C} = \bar{S}'_{\bar{C}D}$ . The scalar curvature K is then given by

$$K = 2\sum_{D} \epsilon_{D} S'_{D\bar{D}}.$$

The indefinite Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  is said to be Einstein if its Ricci tensor S' is proportional to g', that is

$$S'_{C\bar{D}} = \lambda \epsilon_C \delta_{CD}, \qquad \lambda = \frac{K}{2(n+p)},$$

where the constant  $\lambda$  is called the Ricci curvature of the Einstein manifold.

The components  $R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D};E}$  and  $R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D};\bar{E}}$  (resp.  $S'_{A\bar{B};C}$  and  $S'_{A\bar{B};\bar{C}}$ ) of the covariant derivative of the Riemannian curvature tensor R' (resp. the Ricci tensor S') are respectively defined by

$$\sum_{E} \epsilon_{E} (R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D};E}\omega_{E} + R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D};\bar{E}}\bar{\omega}_{E}) = dR'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}}$$

$$- \sum_{E} \epsilon_{E} (R'_{\bar{E}BC\bar{D}}\bar{\omega}_{EA} + R'_{\bar{A}EC\bar{D}}\omega_{EB} + R'_{\bar{A}BE\bar{D}}\omega_{EC} + R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{E}}\bar{\omega}_{ED}),$$

$$\sum_{C} \epsilon_{C} (S'_{A\bar{B};C}\omega_{C} + S'_{A\bar{B};\bar{C}}\bar{\omega}_{C}) = dS'_{A\bar{B}} - \sum_{C} \epsilon_{C} (S'_{C\bar{B}}\omega_{CA} + S'_{A\bar{C}}\bar{\omega}_{CB}).$$

The second Bianchi formula is given by

$$R'_{\bar{A}BC\bar{D}:E} = R'_{\bar{A}BE\bar{D}:C}, \qquad (2.3.4)$$

and hence we have

$$S'_{A\bar{B};C} = S'_{C\bar{B};A} = \sum_{D} \epsilon_{D} R'_{\bar{B}AC\bar{D};D}, \qquad K_{B} = 2 \sum_{C} S_{B\bar{C};C}, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

where  $dK = \sum_{C} \epsilon_{C} (K_{C} \omega_{C} + \bar{K}_{C} \bar{\omega}_{C})$ .

The components  $S'_{A\bar{B};CD}$  and  $S'_{A\bar{B};C\bar{D}}$  of the second covariant derivative of S' are expressed by

$$\sum_{D} \epsilon_{D} (S'_{A\bar{B};CD}\omega_{D} + S'_{A\bar{B};C\bar{D}}\bar{\omega}_{D}) = dS'_{A\bar{B};C}$$

$$-\sum_{D} \epsilon_{D} (S'_{D\bar{B};C}\omega_{DA} + S'_{A\bar{D};C}\bar{\omega}_{DB} + S'_{A\bar{B};D}\omega_{DC}).$$
(2.3.6)

Now, taking exterior differentiation of the definition of  $S'_{A\bar{B};C}$  and  $S'_{A\bar{B};\bar{C}}$ , and using (2.3.6), the Ricci formula for the Ricci tensor S' is given as follows

$$S'_{A\bar{B};C\bar{D}} - S'_{A\bar{B};\bar{D}C} = \sum_{E} \epsilon_{E} (R'_{\bar{D}CA\bar{E}} S'_{E\bar{B}} - R'_{\bar{D}CE\bar{B}} S'_{A\bar{E}}). \tag{2.3.7}$$

Next we focus our attention on a non-degenerate complex submanifold M of  $\widetilde{M}$ . Restricting the above canonical forms  $\{\omega_A\} = \{\omega_i, \omega_y\}$  to M, we have

$$\omega_x = 0 \tag{2.3.8}$$

and, consequently, the induced indefinite Kaehler metric g of index 2s of M is written as  $g=2\sum_{j}\epsilon_{j}\omega_{j}\otimes\bar{\omega}_{j}$ . Therefore, the restriction to M of the frame field  $\{E_{j}\}$  is a local orthonormal frame field with respect to g, and  $\{\omega_{j}\}$  is its dual frame field, which consists of complex 1-forms of type (1,0) on M. Moreover  $\omega_{1},...,\omega_{n},\bar{\omega}_{1},...,\bar{\omega}_{n}$  are linearly independent, and they are said to be a set of local canonical 1-forms on M.

It follows from (2.3.8) and the Cartan lemma, by taking exterior differentiation, that

$$\omega_{xi} = \sum_{j} \epsilon_j h_{ij}^x \omega_j, \quad h_{ij}^x = h_{ji}^x. \tag{2.3.9}$$

The quadratic form h locally defined as

$$\sum_{ijx} \epsilon_i \epsilon_j \epsilon_x h_{ij}^x \omega_i \otimes \omega_j \otimes E_x$$

with values in the normal bundle is called the second fundamental form of the submanifold M. The second fundamental form h can be equivalently described as  $h(X,Y) = \nabla'_X Y - \nabla_X Y$ , for all vector fields X,Y tangent to M, where  $\nabla'$  and  $\nabla$  denote the Levi-Civita connections of the metric of  $\widetilde{M}$  and the one of M, respectively. As in the definite case, h satisfies h(JX,Y) = h(X,JY) = Jh(X,Y). This property implies that h(JX,JY) = -h(X,Y), for all X,Y. Consequently, the mean curvature vector field,  $(1/2n)\operatorname{trace}_g h$ , of an indefinite complex submanifold vanishes. When  $\widetilde{M}$  is a positive definite Kaehler manifold, it is then said that every complex submanifold is minimal. However, we are dealing here with indefinite metrics and, therefore, a better sentence for our setting would be to say that every indefinite complex submanifold is stationary (i.e. a critical point to the 2n-dimensional area functional). It should be remarked that a stationary positive definite complex submanifold with negative definite normal bundle is usually called maximal.

Making use of the structure equations of M it follows that the structure equations of M are given by

$$d\omega_i + \sum_j \epsilon_j \omega_{ij} \wedge \omega_j = 0, \quad \omega_{ij} + \bar{\omega}_{ji} = 0, \quad (2.3.10)$$

$$d\omega_{ij} + \sum_{k} \epsilon_{k} \omega_{ik} \wedge \omega_{kj} = \Omega_{ij},$$

$$\Omega_{ij} = \sum_{kl} \epsilon_{k} \epsilon_{l} R_{\bar{i}jk\bar{l}} \omega_{k} \wedge \bar{\omega}_{l},$$
(2.3.11)

where  $\Omega_{ij}$  (resp.  $R_{\bar{i}ik\bar{l}}$ ) denote the components of the Riemannian curvature form  $\Omega$  (resp. the components of the Riemannian curvature tensor R) of M. Moreover, the following relationships hold,

$$d\omega_{xy} + \sum_{z} \epsilon_{z} \omega_{xz} \wedge \omega_{zy} = \Omega_{xy}, \qquad \Omega_{xy} = \sum_{kl} \epsilon_{k} \epsilon_{l} R_{\bar{x}yk\bar{l}} \omega_{k} \wedge \bar{\omega}_{l}, \qquad (2.3.12)$$

where  $\Omega_{xy}$  are the components of the normal curvature form on M. For the Riemannian curvature tensors R and R' of M and M, respectively, it follows from (2.3.1), (2.3.2), (2.3.9), (2.3.10) and (2.3.11) that

$$R_{\bar{i}jk\bar{l}} = R'_{\bar{i}jk\bar{l}} - \sum_{x} \epsilon_x h^x_{jk} \bar{h}^x_{il}, \qquad (2.3.13)$$

which is called the Gauss equation. From this equation, the components of the Ricci tensor S and the scalar curvature r of M satisfy

$$S_{i\bar{j}} = \sum_{k} \epsilon_k R'_{\bar{i}jk\bar{k}} - h_{i\bar{j}}^2,$$
 (2.3.14)

$$r = 2\sum_{j} S_{j\bar{j}} = 2\sum_{jk} \epsilon_{j} \epsilon_{k} R'_{\bar{j}jk\bar{k}} - 2h_{2}, \qquad (2.3.15)$$

where we have written  $h_{i\bar{j}}^2 = \sum_{kx} \epsilon_k \epsilon_x h_{ik}^x \bar{h}_{kj}^x$  and  $h_2 = \sum_k \epsilon_k h_{k\bar{k}}^2$ . Now the components  $h_{ij;k}^x$  and  $h_{ij;\bar{k}}^x$  of the covariant derivative of the second fundamental form of M are given by

$$\sum_{k} \epsilon_{k} (h_{ij;k}^{x} \omega_{k} + h_{ij;\bar{k}}^{x} \bar{\omega}_{k}) = dh_{ij}^{x} - \sum_{k} \epsilon_{k} (h_{kj}^{x} \omega_{ki} + h_{ik}^{x} \omega_{kj}) + \sum_{y} \epsilon_{y} h_{ij}^{y} \omega_{xy}.$$

Substituting  $dh_{ij}^x$  in this definition into the exterior derivative of (2.3.9), using the structure equations (2.3.1), (2.3.2) and (2.3.10), (2.3.11) we get

$$h_{ij;k}^x = h_{ji;k}^x = h_{ik;j}^x, \qquad h_{ij;\bar{k}}^x = -R'_{\bar{x}ij\bar{k}}.$$
 (2.3.16)

Similarly the components  $h^x_{ij;kl}$  and  $h^x_{ij;k\bar{l}}$  of the second covariant derivative of the second fundamental form can be defined by

$$\sum_{l} \epsilon_{l} (h_{ij;kl}^{x} \omega_{l} + h_{ij;k\bar{l}}^{x} \bar{\omega}_{l}) = dh_{ij;k}^{x} - \sum_{l} \epsilon_{l} (h_{lj;k}^{x} \omega_{li} + h_{il;k}^{x} \omega_{lj} + h_{ij;l}^{x} \omega_{lk}) + \sum_{y} \epsilon_{y} h_{ij;k}^{y} \omega_{xy}.$$

A straightforward computation give rise to the Ricci formula

$$h_{ij;kl}^{x} = h_{ij;lk}^{x},$$

$$h_{ij;k\bar{l}}^{x} - h_{ij;\bar{l}k}^{x} = \sum_{r} \epsilon_{r} (R_{\bar{l}ki\bar{r}}h_{rj}^{x} + R_{\bar{l}kj\bar{r}}h_{ir}^{x})$$

$$-\sum_{y} \epsilon_{y} R_{\bar{x}yk\bar{l}}h_{ij}^{y}.$$
(2.3.17)

Until now, we are dealing with arbitrary indefinite Kaehler manifolds as ambient spaces for complex submanifolds. Next, we will specialize to the important case in which indefinite complex space forms are considered as ambient spaces. But before a few comments about holomorphic sectional curvature is in order. Given an indefinite Kaehler manifold (M, q, J), recall that a plane section  $\pi$  of the tangent space  $T_xM$  of M, at any point x, is said to be non-degenerate provided that  $g_x|\pi$  is non-degenerate. Note that  $\pi$  is non-degenerate if and only if there is a basis  $\{u,v\}$  of  $\pi$  such that  $g(u,u)g(v,v)-g(u,v)^2\neq 0$ . A holomorphic plane spanned by u and Ju is non-degenerate if and only if it contains some vector v with  $q(v,v)\neq 0$ . The sectional curvature of a non-degenerate holomorphic plane  $\pi$  spanned by u and Ju is called the holomorphic sectional curvature, and it is denoted by  $H(\pi) = H(u)$ . An indefinite Kaehler manifold M is said to be of constant holomorphic sectional curvature if its holomorphic sectional curvature function  $H(\pi)$  is constant for all non-degenerate holomorphic plane  $\pi$  and for any point of M. In this case, M is called an indefinite complex space form, which is denoted by  $M_s^m(c)$ , provided that it is of constant holomorphic sectional curvature  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ , of complex dimension m and of index 2s. The standard models of indefinite complex space forms are the following three kinds which

were given by Barros and the first author [7] and Wolf [61]. Namely, the indefinite complex Euclidean space  $\mathbb{C}^m_s$ , the indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^m_s(c)$  and the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H^m_s(c)$ , according as c=0,c>0 and c<0. For an integer s (0< s< m) it is seen in [7], extending a well-know result by Hawley and Igusa in the positive definite case (see for instance Kobayashi and Nomizu [25, p. 171]), that  $\mathbb{C}^m_s$ ,  $\mathbb{C}P^m_s(c)$  and  $\mathbb{C}H^m_s(c)$  are the only geodesically complete, simply connected and connected indefinite complex space forms of dimension m and of index 2s. Moreover, an indefinite complex space form  $M^m_s(c)$  must be locally holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}^m_s$ ,  $\mathbb{C}P^m_s(c)$  or  $\mathbb{C}H^m_s(c)$  provided that c=0, c>0 or c<0, respectively.

Let us consider now that the ambient space is an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+p}(c')$  of constant holomorphic sectional curvature c'. If  $M_s^n$  is a (non-degenerate) complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+p}(c')$ , then (2.3.13), (2.3.14), (2.3.15), (2.3.16) and (2.3.17) specialize to get

$$R_{\bar{i}jk\bar{l}} = \frac{c'}{2} \epsilon_j \epsilon_k (\delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} + \delta_{ik} \delta_{jl}) - \sum_x \epsilon_x h_{jk}^x \bar{h}_{il}^x, \qquad (2.3.18)$$

$$S_{i\bar{j}} = (n+1)\frac{c'}{2}\epsilon_i\delta_{ij} - h_{i\bar{j}}^2,$$
 (2.3.19)

$$r = n(n+1)c' - 2h_2, (2.3.20)$$

$$h_{ij;k}^{x} = h_{ji;k}^{x} = h_{ik;j}^{x}, \quad h_{ij;\bar{k}}^{x} = 0,$$
(2.3.21)

$$h_{ij;k\bar{l}}^{x} = \frac{c'}{2} \left( \epsilon_{k} h_{ij}^{x} \delta_{kl} + \epsilon_{i} h_{jk}^{x} \delta_{il} + \epsilon_{j} h_{ki}^{x} \delta_{jl} \right) - \sum_{ry} \epsilon_{r} \epsilon_{y} \left( h_{ri}^{x} h_{jk}^{y} + h_{rj}^{x} h_{ki}^{y} + h_{rk}^{x} h_{ij}^{y} \right) \bar{h}_{rl}^{y}.$$
(2.3.22)

Besides of the holomorphic sectional curvature, on indefinite Kaehler manifolds it is possible to consider another curvature functions. Precisely, we end this section recalling the notion of real bisectional curvature of an indefinite Kaehler manifold, in order to be used later. In [10] R.L. Bishop and S.I. Goldberg introduced the notion of totally real bisectional curvature B on a (positive definite) Kaehler manifold (M, g, J). A totally real plane  $\text{Span}\{u, v\}$  of  $T_xM$  is, by definition, orthogonal to its image by the complex structure  $\text{Span}\{Ju, Jv\}$ . Thus, two orthonormal vectors u and v span a totally real plane if and only if u, v and Jv are orthonormal. The totally real bisectional curvature of a totally real plane  $\text{Span}\{u, v\}$  is then defined by

$$B(u,v) = \frac{g(R(u,Ju)Jv,v)}{g(u,u)g(v,v)}.$$
 (2.3.23)

C.S. Houh [18] showed that an  $(n\geq 3)$ -dimensional Kaehler manifold has constant totally real bisectional curvature c if and only if it has constant holomorphic sectional curvature 2c (see Example 2.3.1 for the sufficient condition).

On the other hand, S.I. Goldberg and S. Kobayashi introduced in [17] the notion of holomorphic bisectional curvature H(u, v), which is determined by two holomorphic planes  $\operatorname{Span}\{u, Ju\}$  and  $\operatorname{Span}\{v, Jv\}$ . They asserted that the complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^n(c)$  is the only compact Kaehler manifold with positive holomorphic bisectional curvature and constant scalar curvature.

If we compare the notion of totally real bisectional curvature B(u, v) with the one of holomorphic bisectional curvature H(u, v) and the one of holomorphic sectional curvature H(u), then H(u, v) turns out to be the totally real bisectional curvature B(u, v) (resp. the holomorphic sectional curvature H(u)) when the two holomorphic planes  $\operatorname{Span}\{u, Ju\}$  and  $\operatorname{Span}\{v, Jv\}$  are orthogonal to each other (resp. coincide with each other). From this assertion it follows that the positiveness of B(u, v) is weaker than the positiveness of H(u, v), because H(u, v) > 0 implies that both of B(u, v) and H(u) are positive but we do not know whether B(u, v) > 0 implies H(u, v) > 0 or not.

Now let us also denote by (M, g, J) an *n*-dimensional indefinite Kaehler manifold. Of course, the previous formula (2.3.23) may be used to define the totally real bisectional curvature of a non-degenerate totally real plane  $\text{Span}\{u,v\}$ . Let us remark that the previously mentioned result by Houh was extended to indefinite Kaehler manifolds in [7].

If it is assumed  $g(u, u) = g(v, v) = \pm 1$ , then we can use the first Bianchi identity in (2.3.23), we get

$$B(u,v) = g(R(u,Jv)Jv,u) + g(R(u,v)v,u)$$
  
=  $K(u,v) + K(u,Jv),$  (2.3.24)

where K(u, v) and K(u, Jv) mean the sectional curvatures of the planes  $\text{Span}\{u, v\}$  and  $\text{Span}\{u, Jv\}$ , respectively. Hereafter unless otherwise stated, we only consider such a situation; that is, we only consider definite totally real planes.

Now if we put  $u' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(u+v)$  and  $v' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}J(u-v)$ , then it is easily seen that  $g(u',u')=\pm 1,\ g(v',v')=\pm 1,$  and g(u',Jv')=0. Thus

$$B(u', v') = \frac{g(R(u', Ju')Jv', v')}{g(u', u')g(v', v')}$$

implies that

$$\begin{split} g(u',u')g(v',v')B(u',v') &= g(R'(u',Ju')Jv',v') \\ &= \frac{1}{4}g(u,u)g(v,v) \left\{ H(u) + H(v) + 2B(u,v) - 4K(u,Jv) \right\}, \end{split}$$

where H(u) = K(u, Ju), and H(v) = K(v, Jv) are the holomorphic sectional curvatures of the planes  $\text{Span}\{u, Ju\}$  and  $\text{Span}\{v, Jv\}$ , respectively. Since  $\text{Span}\{u, v\}$  is definite, it follows that

$$g(u', u')g(v', v') = g(u, u)g(v, v) = 1$$

and therefore

$$4B(u',v') - 2B(u,v) = H(u) + H(v) - 4K(u,Jv).$$
(2.3.25)

If we put  $u'' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(u+Jv)$ , and  $v'' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(Ju+v)$ , then the definiteness of the plane  $\text{Span}\{u,v\}$  such that  $g(u,u)=g(v,v)=\pm 1$  implies  $g(u'',u'')=g(v'',v'')=\pm 1$  and g(u'',v'')=0. Using a similar method to the one considered to get (2.3.25), we have

$$4B(u'', v'') - 2B(u, v) = H(u) + H(v) - 4K(u, v).$$
(2.3.26)

Summing up (2.3.25) and (2.3.26), we obtain

$$2B(u',v') + 2B(u'',v'') = H(u) + H(v).$$
(2.3.27)

Now we compute the totally real bisectional curvatures of several distinguished examples of indefinite Kaehler manifolds.

EXAMPLE 2.3.1. Let  $\widetilde{M}_s^n(c)$  be an indefinite complex space form of constant holomorphic sectional curvature c and of index 2s,  $0 \le s \le n$ . Then  $\widetilde{M}_s^n(c)$  has constant totally real bisectional curvature c/2. In fact, if  $\mathrm{Span}\{u,v\}$  is a totally real plane, then  $B(u,v) = \frac{g(R(u,Ju)Jv,v)}{g(u,u)g(v,v)} = c/2$  easily follows from the algebraic form of the curvature tensor of  $\widetilde{M}_s^n(c)$ .

In order to show a Kaehler manifold, with special interest for us, which is not of constant totally real bisectional curvature we will consider the *complex quadric*  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n$  in the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_1^{n+1}(c')$ , c' < 0 (Example 3.2.3).

EXAMPLE 2.3.2. Let  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  be the indefinite complex quadric in the indefinite complex projective space (Example 3.2.3). Then it can be identified to the Hermitian symmetric space  $SO^s(n+2)/(SO^s(n)\times SO(2))$ . The canonical decomposition of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{D}^s(n+2)$  of the Lie group  $SO^s(n+2)$  is given by

$$\mathfrak{O}^s(n+2)=\mathfrak{H}\oplus\mathfrak{M},$$

where  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{O}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{O}^s(n)$  and

$$\mathfrak{M} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 & \cdots & \xi_s & -\xi_{s+1} & \cdots & -\xi_n \\ \eta_1 & \cdots & \eta_s & -\eta_{s+1} & \cdots & -\eta_n \end{pmatrix} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 & \eta_1 \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \xi_n & \eta_n \end{pmatrix} & 0 & \end{pmatrix} \middle| \xi_j, \eta_j \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

which can be naturally identified to the tangent space at a point of  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$ . It is classical (see [25, Example XI.10.6]) that several interesting geometric objects on  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  can be described as suitable multilinear maps on the subspace  $\mathfrak{M}$  of  $\mathfrak{D}^s(n+2)$ , in particular, the curvature tensor and, therefore, the totally real bisectional curvature [24].

By changing the metric tensor g of  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_s$  in  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_s(c)$  to its negative, we can also consider  $(\mathbb{C}Q^n_{n-s}, -g)$  as a complex hypersurface of the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+1}_{n+1-s}(c')$ , c'=-c<0. Denote by  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n_{n-s}$  this complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+1}_{n+1-s}(c')$ . Making use of the Lagrange multiplier rule the totally real bisectional curvature B(u,v) of  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_n = SO^n(n+2)/(SO^n(n)\times SO(2))$  in  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_n(c)$  is computed in [24]. Hence, the totally real bisectional curvature B'(u,v) of  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n$  in  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+1}_1(c')$ , c'=-c<0. In fact, we have

$$\frac{c'}{2} \le B'(u,v) \le -\frac{3}{2}c'.$$

On the other hand, from (2.3.27) it follows that

$$2B'(u',v') + c' \le 2B'(u',v') + 2B'(u'',v'') = H'(u) + H'(v) \le c'.$$

Thus  $B'(u',v')\leq 0$ . Consequently we get

$$\frac{c'}{2} \le B'(u, v) \le 0.$$

Let us finally note that the totally real bisectional curvature B of the classical complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  in  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}(c)$  satisfies  $0 \leq B \leq \frac{c}{2}$ .

#### Chapter 3. Complex hypersurfaces

3.1. PRELIMINARIES. The Ricci tensor has been a fundamental tool in the study of complex hypersurfaces of (positive definite) complex space forms. Smyth, in his important paper [53], studied complete complex hypersurfaces in a complex space form whose induced Kaehler metric is Einstein. He was motivated by the well known results of Thomas, Cartan and Fialkow on Einstein hypersurfaces of Riemannian manifolds of constant sectional curvature (i.e. of real space forms). He proved that these hypersurfaces are either totally geodesic or a certain hyperquadric of the complex projective space. On the other hand, the quoted results on Einstein hypersurfaces in real space forms, were extended by Magid to the indefinite real case [29], [30] and [31]. Now, we are going to study complex Einstein hypersurfaces in indefinite complex space forms.

Let  $M_s^n$  be a (non degenerate) complex hypersurface of (complex) dimension n and index 2s,  $0 \le s \le n$ , of an (n+1)-dimensional indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$ , with holomorphic sectional curvature  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  and index 2s+2t, where t=0 or t=1 according as the normal bundle is positive definite or negative definite, respectively. As we asserted in the last section, we can identify  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$  with the indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$  if c>0, with the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$  if c<0, or with the indefinite complex flat space  $\mathbb{C}_{s+t}^{n+1}$  if c=0. The Ricci tensor of a non-degenerate complex hypersurface  $M_s^n$  of  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$  is given by (2.3.19) or in real notation, [35], [36], by

$$S(X,Y) = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)cg(X,Y) - 2ag(A^2X,Y)$$
 (3.1.1)

for any vector fields X, Y on M, where  $a = g'(\xi, \xi) = +1$  or -1 and A is the shape operator (also called Weingarten operator) associated to the (local) unit normal vector field  $\xi$ . Suppose that  $M_s^n$  is an Einstein space, that is,  $S = \lambda g$ , with  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . Thus, previous (3.1.1) (or formula (2.3.19)) implies that A satisfies the following polynomial equation

$$x^2 + \beta = 0, (3.1.2)$$

where  $\beta = \frac{1}{2}a(\lambda - \frac{1}{2}(n+1)c)$ . At this point, Smyth [53], used a simple but important algebraic fact, namely, the shape operator A is (in the definite case) diagonalizable. From this and (2.3.21) it can be proved that a complex hypersurface of a (definite) complex space form is locally symmetric whenever

it is assumed to be an Einstein space. Here, we cannot always diagonalize A and, consequently, we must use the well known classification for self-adjoint operators of a scalar product vector space (see for instance Maltsev [32]). So, we have

- (i) A is diagonalizable, or
- (ii) A is not, but either  $A^2 = -b^2I$ , with  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $b \neq 0$ , or  $A^2 = 0$  and  $A \neq 0$ .

Except for the last case in (ii) we can also obtain [35] the following result,

THEOREM 3.1.1. Let  $M_s^n$  be a complex Einstein hypersurface of an indefinite complex space form. If the shape operator A associated to a unit normal vector field satisfies  $A^2 \neq 0$  or A = 0, then  $M_s^n$  is locally symmetric.

Examples 3.3.6 and 3.3.7 below will show that this result is the best possible in that direction.

3.2. PROPER COMPLEX EINSTEIN HYPERSURFACES. In order to do a classification, it is suitable to call a complex Einstein hypersurface proper if the shape operator A associated to a unit normal vector field is diagonalizable. Note that if this holds for a concrete unit normal vector field, the same is also true for any normal vector field, so that it is a property of the holomorphic immersion of  $M_s^n$  in the indefinite complex space form as a complex hypersurface. Clearly, if A satisfies  $A^2 = b^2 I$ ,  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $b \neq 0$ , then  $M_s^n$  is proper (as usual, we will refer to the immersion of  $M_s^n$  to  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$  only by saying  $M_s^n$ , whenever there is no possible confusion).

We first consider several examples of proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces.

EXAMPLE 3.2.1. The indefinite complex flat space  $\mathbb{C}^n_s$  is a totally geodesic (hence Einstein) complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$ , t=0,1, in a natural way.

EXAMPLE 3.2.2. For an indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$ , if  $z_1, \ldots, z_s, z_{s+1}, \ldots, z_{n+2}$  is its usual homogeneous coordinate system, then for each j fixed, the equation  $z_j = 0$  defines a totally geodesic (hence Einstein) complex hypersurface identifiable with  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  or  $\mathbb{C}P_{s-1}^n(c)$  according as  $s+1 \leq j \leq n+2$  or  $1 \leq j \leq s$ , respectively. Taking into account that the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_s^n(-c)$ , c > 0, is obtained from  $\mathbb{C}P_{n-s}^n(c)$  by taking the opposite of its Kaehler metric, the previous discussion shows that

 $\mathbb{C}H_s^n(-c)$  is a totally geodesic complex hypersurface of both  $\mathbb{C}H_s^{n+1}(-c)$  and  $\mathbb{C}H_{s+1}^{n+1}(-c)$ .

EXAMPLE 3.2.3. Let  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  be the complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$  defined by the equation

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{s} z_i^2 + \sum_{j=s+1}^{n+2} z_j^2 = 0$$
 (3.2.1)

in the homogeneous coordinate system of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$ . Then  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  is a non-degenerate complex hypersurface, has index 2s and satisfies  $A^2 = \frac{c}{4}I$ , where I denotes the identity transformation. Therefore, by comparing (2.1.1) and (2.3.19), we have for the second fundamental form

$$h_{i\bar{j}}^2 = \frac{c}{2}\epsilon_i \delta_{ij}.$$

Now, also by using again (2.1.1) or (2.3.19) we achieve that  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  is an Einstein space with  $S = \frac{nc}{2}g$ .  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  is called the indefinite complex quadric in  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$ . As in Kobayashi and Nomizu [25, Example XI.10.6],  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  is globally holomorphically isometric to the Hermitian symmetric space  $SO^{s}(n +$  $2)/(SO^{s}(n) \times SO(2))$  endowed with a negative multiple of the Killing form of  $SO^s(n+2)$ ; in particular, [44, Lemma 8.20] gives that  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  is geodesically complete. Now consider  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_{n-s}$  as a complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_{n-s}(c)$ , c>0. If we change the Kaehler metric of  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_{n-s}(c)$  by its opposite, we have that  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_{n-s}$  endowed with its opposite metric is also an Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}H_{s+1}^{n+1}(-c)$ . Denote this complex hypersurface by  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$ . As the Ricci tensor is invariant by an homothetical change of the metric we have that  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n_s$  and  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_{n-s}$  have the same Ricci tensor. Thus  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n_s$  is Einstein with  $S = \frac{n(-c)}{2}g'$ , where g' is the Kaehler metric of  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$ . A reasoning as above permits us to identify  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^{n}$  to the Hermitian symmetric space  $SO^{n-s}(n+1)$  $(SO^{n-s}(n) \times SO(2)) = SO^{s+2}(n+2)/(SO^{s}(n) \times SO(2))$ . In particular, the spacelike (i.e. positive definite) complex hypersurface  $\mathbb{C}Q^{n}$  of  $\mathbb{C}H_{1}^{n+1}(-c)$ is the non-compact Hermitian symmetric space  $SO^2(n+2)/(SO(n)\times SO(2))$ .

Finally, note that  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  can be contemplated as the Grassmannian manifold of all oriented 2-dimensional spacelike subspaces of the indefinite flat Riemannian space  $\mathbb{R}_s^{n+2}$ . This extends a well-known fact in the positive definite case (i.e. when s=0).

These examples are shown to be the only proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces. In fact, following the idea of Smyth [53] and [54], we can investigate

the restricted holonomy group of such a hypersurface of an indefinite complex space form. Then, we use the Berger list of symmetric spaces [9] to obtain the following classification result,

THEOREM 3.2.4. (i) The only proper complete indefinite complex Einstein hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_{s+t}(c)$ , c>0, n>2 are  $\mathbb{C}P^n_s(c)$  with t=0,1 and  $\mathbb{C}Q^n_s$  with t=0.

- (ii) The only proper complete indefinite complex Einstein hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+1}_{s+t}(-c)$ , c>0, n>2 are  $\mathbb{C}H^n_s(-c)$  with t=0,1 and  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n_s$  with t=1.
- (iii) The only proper complete indefinite complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  n>2 is  $\mathbb{C}^n_s(c)$  with t=0,1.

This result was obtained by Montiel and the first author in [35] with an extra assumption. In fact, it was assumed that the complex hypersurface is simply connected. However, we can prove that this condition can be dropped. In order to do this, let M be the complex Einstein hypersurface and let  $\varphi$  be the holomorphic immersion of M to M(c). We denote by  $\hat{M}$  the universal semi-Riemannian covering manifold of M and by  $\pi: \hat{M} \longrightarrow M$  the corresponding covering map. Clearly,  $\hat{M}$  is an indefinite Kaehler manifold and  $\pi: \hat{M} \longrightarrow M$  is a holomorphic local isometry. Thus, M is a simply connected complete indefinite complex Einstein hypersurface, immersed in M(c) by  $\varphi \circ \pi$ . Now, we can use [35, Theorem 4.4] to conclude that if  $\widetilde{M}(c) = \mathbb{C}P_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$ then  $\hat{M}$  is holomorphically isometric either to  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  or to  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$ . By rigidity, the first author [48], Umehara [59] (see also Montiel and the first author [35, pp. 502-503 for a direct proof of the rigidity for our setting)  $\hat{M}$  immerses either onto an indefinite complex projective hyperplane or onto an indefinite complex quadric in  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}_{s+t}(c)$ . In either case,  $(\varphi \circ \pi)(\hat{M})$  is a simply connected manifold (recall that  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  and  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$  are simply connected manifolds) and, therefore, the covering map  $\varphi \circ \pi$  must be one-to-one. Thus,  $\pi$  is one-to-one and M is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  or to  $\mathbb{C}Q_s^n$ , according to the case. The same argument can be also applied when  $\widetilde{M}(-c) = \mathbb{C}H^{n+1}_{s+t}(-c)$ , c>0, or  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$ . Thus, Theorem 3.2.4 is an improved form of [35, Theorem 4.4].

The following local version of Theorem 3.2.4 has been proved by Aiyama, Nakagawa and the second author [3],

THEOREM 3.2.5. Let M be an indefinite complex Einstein hypersurface of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c)$ . If M is proper, then M is totally

geodesic or  $S = \frac{nc}{2}g$ , the latter arising only when c > 0 and t = 0 or c < 0 and t = 1.

3.3. Non-proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces present a more irregular geometric behavior. We begin this section with several examples.

EXAMPLE 3.3.1. Let us consider the complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+1}^{2n+1}(c)$  defined by the equation

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n+1} z_j z_{n+1+j} = 0 (3.3.1)$$

in the usual homogeneous coordinate system of  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+1}^{2n+1}(c)$ . This complex hypersurface is non-degenerate, has index 2n and satisfies  $A^2 = -\frac{c}{4}I$ , where I denotes the identity transformation. Therefore, from (3.1.1), we get for the second fundamental form

$$h_{i\bar{j}}^2 = -\frac{c}{2}\epsilon_i \delta_{ij}.$$

Now by using (2.3.19) we have that this complex hypersurface is an Einstein space with  $S = \frac{(n+2)c}{2}g$ . This hypersurface is represented by  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$  in Montiel and the first author [35] and it is called the 2n-dimensional special quadric. As in Example 3.2.3,  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$  is holomorphically isometric to the non-compact Hermitian symmetric space  $SO^*(2n+2)/(SO^*(2n)\times SO(2))$  endowed with a negative multiple of the Killing form of the Lie group  $SO^*(2n+2)$  (see Berger [9, p. 113], for a description of this Lie group and the corresponding symmetric space). Again, using O'Neill [44, Lemma 8.20], we have that  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$  is geodesically complete. As in the previous examples, we can also obtain an indefinite complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}H_n^{2n+1}(-c)$ , c>0, such that  $A^2=-\frac{c}{4}I$ .

Remark 3.3.2. If we write the same equation in Example 3.3.1 as defining a complex hypersurface of the (definite) complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{2n+1}(c)$  (recall that  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$  is, as a complex manifold, an open subset of  $\mathbb{C}P^m(c)$  for all s) we obtain a complex hypersurface congruent with the usual complex quadric (see Kobayashi and Nomizu [25, Example XI.10.6] or Example 3.2.3 above with s=0).

EXAMPLE 3.3.3. Let M be the complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}_n^{2n+1}$ ,  $n \geq 2$ , given by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (z_j - z_{n+j})^2 = 2z_{2n+1}.$$
(3.3.2)

As it is shown in Romero [47], this non-degenerate complex hypersurface M is holomorphically diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ , is geodesically complete, has index 2n and its shape operator satisfies  $A^2=0$  but  $A\neq 0$ ; that is, M is Ricci flat but non flat. Moreover M is locally symmetric [47]. Thus M is a semi-Riemannian symmetric space; in fact, it has been studied from an intrinsic point of view in Cahen and Parker [11, p. 346]. The change of the Kaehler metric of the ambient space  $\mathbb{C}^{2n+1}_n$  by its opposite, permits us to have a complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^{2n+1}_{n+1}$ , with  $A^2=0$  and  $A\neq 0$ . Therefore we get (both cases) for the second fundamental form

$$h_{i\bar{i}}^2 = 0.$$

Note that the rank of A is maximum at any point of M and, thus, we have  $\operatorname{Im}(A) = \operatorname{Ker}(A)$  on all M. If we think on the same equation (3.3.2) as defining a complex hypersurface in  $\mathbb{C}_s^m$  with s > n and m > 2n + 1, then we have a complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}_s^m$  satisfying  $A^2 = 0$  and  $A \neq 0$  and, clearly, with  $\operatorname{Im}(A) \neq \operatorname{Ker}(A)$ .

Remark 3.3.4. In the definite case, we know by a classical result of Aleeksevski and Kimenfeld (see Berard-Bergery [8, p. 553]) that a Ricci-flat homogeneous Riemannian metric must be flat. Note that the indefinite complex hypersurface M given in Example 3.3.3 is homogeneous and Ricci-flat, but M is not flat.

EXAMPLE 3.3.5. Let  $M_p'$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $p \geq 3$ , be the non-degenerate complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}_n^{2n+1}$  given by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (z_j - z_{n+j})^p = p z_{2n+1}. \tag{3.3.3}$$

Then, [47], each  $M'_p$  is holomorphically diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ , is geodesically complete, has index 2n and satisfies  $A^2 = 0$  but  $A \neq 0$ . Therefore we get for the second fundamental form

$$h_{i\bar{j}}^2 = 0.$$

Now, using again (2.3.19) we have that  $M'_p$  is Ricci-flat (but non flat). As in previous example, the rank of A is maximum at any point and, thus, we have Im(A) = Ker(A) on all  $M'_p$ . As it is shown in Romero [47], the curvature tensor R of  $M'_p$  satisfies  $\nabla^{2(p-2)+1}R = 0$  and  $\nabla^{2(p-2)}R \neq 0$ , for any p, where  $\nabla^k R$  denotes the k-th covariant derivative of R. Therefore,  $M'_p$  and  $M'_{p'}$  cannot be (locally) isometric if  $p \neq p'$ .

On the other hand, if  $z \in M'_p$  satisfies  $z_j = z_{n+j}$  for all j = 1, 2, ..., n,  $z_{2n+1} = 0$ , then R = 0 at this point z. If  $M'_p$  would be homogeneous this fact would imply  $R \equiv 0$ , which is not clearly true. Observe that this example provides us with a complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^{2n+1}_{n+1}$  with the same properties. If we think on the equation (3.3.3) as defining a complex hypersurface in  $\mathbb{C}^m_s$  with s > n and m > 2n + 1, then we have a complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^m_s$  satisfying  $A^2 = 0$  and  $A \neq 0$  and, clearly, with  $\text{Im}(A) \neq \text{Ker}(A)$ .

EXAMPLE 3.3.6. Let  $M_s^{2n}(h_j; c_j)$  be the complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}_s^{2n+1}$  given by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} h_j (z_j + c_j z_{n+j}) = z_{2n+1}, \tag{3.3.4}$$

where  $h_j$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq n$ , are holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{C}$ , and  $c_j$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq n$ , complex numbers. Note that  $M_n^{2n}(\frac{1}{p}z^p;-1)$ ,  $p \geq 2$ , are the complex hypersurfaces in Examples 3.3.3 and 3.3.5. In Aiyama, Ikawa, Kwon and Nakagawa [1] are constructed and studied these hypersurfaces. Among other geometric properties, it is shown that  $M_s^{2n}(h_j;c_j)$  is a complete complex hypersurface of index 2s in  $\mathbb{C}_s^{2n+1}$  if  $|c_k| \geq 1$  for any k such that  $1 \leq k \leq s$ , and it is holomorphically diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$ . Moreover, if all functions  $h_q$ ,  $s+1 \leq q \leq n$ , are linear and  $|c_k| = 1$  for any k such that  $1 \leq k \leq s$ , then  $M_s^{2n}(h_j;c_j)$  is Ricci-flat and it is not flat provided there is a function  $h_k$ ,  $1 \leq k \leq s$ , which is not linear.

EXAMPLE 3.3.7. Let  $M_p''$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $p \geq 2$ , be the complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P_n^{2n}(c)$ , c > 0, defined by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (z_j - z_{n+j})^p = z_{2n+1}^p, \quad z_{2n+1} \neq 0.$$
 (3.3.5)

in the usual homogeneous coordinate system of  $\mathbb{C}P_n^{2n}(c)$ . As it is shown in Romero [46], each  $M_p''$  is non-degenerate, has index 2n and satisfies  $A^2=0$ 

but  $A\neq 0$ . Therefore also we get for the second fundamental form

$$h_{i\bar{i}}^2 = 0.$$

Now, by using (2.3.19) we have that  $M_p''$  is an Einstein space with S=ncg. So that, the scalar curvature of  $M_p''$  is  $2cn^2$ , for all p. Moreover, [46],  $M_p''$  is not locally symmetric;  $\operatorname{Ker}(A)$  is an autoparallel (non parallel) complex differentiable distribution on  $M_p''$ ;  $M_p''$  is not geodesically complete but it is not extendible (as a semi-Riemannian manifold). Finally, if  $p\neq p'$  then  $M_p''$  and  $M_{p'}''$  do not have the same homotopy type. By using once again that the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_s^{n+1}(-c)$ , c>0, can be obtained from  $\mathbb{C}P_{n-s+1}^{n+1}(c)$  by replacing the Kaehler metric of  $\mathbb{C}P_{n-s+1}^{n+1}(c)$  by its opposite, we can obtain a family  $M_p'''$ ,  $p\in\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $p\geq 2$ , of complex hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}H_n^{2n}(-c)$ , n>1, defined by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (z_j - z_{n+j+1})^p = z_{n+1}^p, \quad z_{n+1} \neq 0.$$
 (3.3.6)

with analogous properties to previous family of complex hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{C}P_n^{2n}(c)$ . These examples have positive definite (resp. negative definite) normal bundle in  $\mathbb{C}P_n^{2n}(c)$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{C}H_n^{2n}(-c)$ ). In a similar way, we can obtain another family of complex Einstein hypersurfaces with negative definite (resp. positive definite) normal bundle in  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+1}^{2n}(c)$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{C}H_{n-1}^{2n}(-c)$ ).

Remark 3.3.8. The last five examples do not have parallel ones in Smyth's work [53]. That is, they do belong specifically to the area of indefinite hypersurfaces. Examples 3.3.6 and 3.3.7 show us that there exist indefinite complex Einstein hypersurfaces which are not locally symmetric. Recall that in the definite case, Smyth proved in [53] that a complex Einstein hypersurface is always locally symmetric and this is the key of his classification in [53]. On the other hand, it was shown by Smyth in [54] that a complex hypersurface of a (definite) complex space form is homogeneous if and only if it is Einstein. We know from Example 3.3.5 that the same assertion is not true here.

Observe that a lot of complex hypersurfaces in Example 3.3.6, in particular, all the complex hypersurfaces in Example 3.3.5, have the same scalar curvature zero. Also, every complex hypersurface in Example 3.3.7 have the same scalar curvature  $2cn^2$ . Thus, the scalar curvature does not distinguish among indefinite complex Einstein hypersurfaces of indefinite complex space forms.

On the other hand, if a complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}_s^m$  satisfies  $A^2 = 0$ , then, for its curvature tensor R, we have R(X,Y)AZ = AR(X,Y)Z = 0 which implies that these hypersurfaces are semi-symmetric in the sense of Szabó [55]; or alternatively, they satisfy the Nomizu condition R.R = 0, [39]. However, we know that there are a lot of complex hypersurfaces in certain  $\mathbb{C}_s^m$  satisfying  $A^2 = 0$  and which are not locally symmetric. In the next section, indefinite complex hypersurfaces which satisfy the Nomizu condition will be studied, following Aiyama, Nakagawa and the second author [3].

According to the previous examples, we have that any indefinite complex space form M(c) always admits some proper complex Einstein hypersurface, independently of the sign of the holomomorphic sectional curvature c. However, for the case of non-proper complex Einstein hypersurfaces we have, Montiel and the first author [35],

THEOREM 3.3.9. Let M be an indefinite complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\widetilde{M}(c)$  such that the shape operator A associated to a unit normal vector field  $\xi$  satisfies  $A^2 = -b^2I$ ,  $b \neq 0$ . Then  $c = -4b^2g(\xi, \xi)$ .

As a consequence, if M(c) admits a complex hypersurface M under the assumptions in Theorem 3.3.9 then  $c\neq 0$  and c>0 (resp. c<0) if and only if the normal bundle is negative definite (resp. positive definite). For the other non-proper case we have (see Romero [46]),

THEOREM 3.3.10. Let M be an indefinite complex hypersurface of a (n+1)-dimensional,  $n \geq 2$ , indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}(c)$ . Assume M is Einstein with  $A^2 = 0$  and not totally geodesic. If M is locally symmetric then c = 0.

Consequently, we get

COROLLARY 3.3.11. If  $c\neq 0$  then there exists no indefinite complex hypersurface in  $\widetilde{M}(c)$  with  $A^2=0$  and not totally geodesic which is locally symmetric.

Remark 3.3.12. Observe that the assumption locally symmetric in Theorem 3.3.10 can be replaced by Ker(A) is a parallel differentiable distribution and the same conclusion holds. Thus, Montiel and Romero [35, Theorem 6.2] is actually a particular case of Corollary 3.3.11 and, therefore, [35, Theorem 6.2] also holds when the index of the hypersurface is equal to 2 (compare with the real case Graves and Nomizu [16] and Magid [31, p. 133]).

Examples 3.3.5, 3.3.6 and 3.3.7 show that Theorem 3.3.10 is the best result in that direction. Moreover, it follows that a full classification is not possible for the non-proper case in which the shape operators are nilpotent and non-zero.

When the ambient space is flat, we have shown complex Einstein hypersurfaces with  $A^2=0$  and maximal rank at any point, which are locally symmetric (Example 3.3.3), and a lot of such complex Einstein hypersurfaces which are not locally symmetric (Example 3.3.5). It should be pointed out that for such complex Einstein hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{C}_n^{2n+1}$  (or in  $\mathbb{C}_{n+1}^{2n+1}$ ), a local characterization, similar to the obtained one by Magid in the real case [31, Theorem 4.2], may be obtained.

For the non-proper case where  $A^2 = -b^2I$ ,  $b\neq 0$ , holds, it is possible to achieve a classification as the following result shows,

Theorem 3.3.13.  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$  is the only indefinite complete complex Einstein hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+1}^{2n+1}(c)$  (and of  $\mathbb{C}H_n^{2n+1}(-c)$ ), c>0, which satisfies  $A^2=-b^2I$ ,  $b\neq 0$ . Moreover, if  $m\neq 2n$  or  $t\neq 1$  (resp. if  $m\neq 2n$  or  $t\neq 0$ ) there do not exist complex hypersurfaces satisfying these conditions in  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+t}^{m+1}(c)$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{C}H_{n+t}^{m+1}(-c)$ ).

This result is an improved form of Montiel and the first author [35, Theorem 5.5] where the complex hypersurface was assumed to be simply connected. In order to remove this assumption, let  $\hat{M}$  be the semi-Riemannian universal covering of M. Then  $\hat{M}$  is a complex Einstein hypersurface which also satisfies  $A^2 = -b^2I$ ,  $b\neq 0$ . Taking into account that A is not diagonalizable, we need a different strategy to that previous Theorem 3.2.4. The key fact is that condition  $A^2 = -b^2I$ ,  $b\neq 0$ , implies (see Theorem 3.1.1) that M is locally symmetric, and hence  $\hat{M}$  is also locally symmetric. Moreover, b is determined from c (Theorem 3.3.9). Thus,  $\hat{M}$  is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$ , where n is the dimension of M. By rigidity, the first author [48], Umehara [59],  $\hat{M}$  holomorphically immerses onto  $\mathbb{C}Q_n^*$ , in  $\mathbb{C}P_{n+1}^{2n+1}(c)$  or  $\mathbb{C}H_n^{2n+1}(-c)$ . Therefore, the covering map must be one-to-one and  $M = \hat{M} = \mathbb{C}Q_n^*$ .

For the non-proper case where  $A^2 = 0$ ,  $A \neq 0$ , holds, it is possible to give a characterization in terms of the normal connection. In fact, in Montiel and the first author [35] the following result is proved,

THEOREM 3.3.14. Let M be an n-dimensional, n > 2, complex submanifold of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}(c)$ . Assume M is geodesically

complete and simply connected and  $c\neq 0$ . Then, there exist no unit normal vector fields to M which are parallel with respect to the normal connection.

As a consequence we obtain,

COROLLARY 3.3.15. Let M be a complex submanifold as in Theorem 3.3.14. Then the normal curvature tensor vanishes identically if and only if c=0 and  $A_{\xi}^2=0$  for any vector field  $\xi$  normal to M.

Remark 3.3.16. In the definite case, Nomizu and Smyth proved [41, Theorem 7] that for a complex hypersurface M in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ , the normal curvature tensor is identically zero if and only if M is totally geodesic. Now, from Examples 3.3.5, 3.3.6 and Corollary 3.3.15, we can assert that the situation here is quite different. We refer the reader to [23] for other results on the normal connection.

After the geometric behavior previously exposed for indefinite complex hypersurfaces which satisfy  $A^2=0$ , it is clear that some extra assumption should be imposed to study this family of complex hypersurfaces. The following result uses a natural assumption, we are going to introduce now. Recall that each indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$  is topologically an open subset of the (ordinary) complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^m(c)$ . On the other hand, the complex hypersurfaces  $M_p''$  in Example 3.3.7 are obtained by taking  $M_p''=\mathbb{C}P_n^{2n}(c)\cap \tilde{M}_p$  where  $\tilde{M}_p$  is a non-singular and non-closed complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P^{2n}(c)$ . Now assume that

$$M = \mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c) \cap \tilde{M},$$

where  $\tilde{M}$  is a non-singular closed complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}(c)$ . In this case as proved in Romero [46] we have,

THEOREM 3.3.17. Let M be an indefinite complex hypersurface embedded in an indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$ ,  $n \geq 2$ , which is obtained as above. If M is Einstein and satisfies  $A^2 = 0$  at any point, then M is totally geodesic and hence an indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  or  $\mathbb{C}P_{s-1}^n(c)$  according the index of M is 2s or 2s - 2, respectively.

The following sketch of proof is inspired from Nomizu [40]. We introduce the complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$  given by

$$z_1 = z_{s+1}, \dots, z_t = z_{s+t}$$
 (3.3.7)

where t is a fixed integer with  $1 \leq t \leq \min\{s, m-s+1\}$  and  $(z_1, \ldots, z_{m+1})$  is the usual complex homogeneous coordinate system of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$ . This complex submanifold has dimension m-t and inherits from  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$  a degenerate metric with constant rank 2(m-2t) and index 2(s-t). Moreover, it is autoparallel and geodesically complete (with respect to the induced connection from the metric connection of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^m(c)$ ). We call it as the degenerate complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_{s-t;t}^{m-t}(c)$ . The key of the proof is to show that, under the assumptions in Theorem 3.3.17, if the rank of A is not zero everywhere and 2r denotes the maximum of rank A0 then A1 contains (after a rigid motion of the ambient space)  $\mathbb{C}P_{s-r;r}^{m-r}(c)$ . Form this fact, we can conclude that the homogeneous polynomial defining A1 is of degree 1 and, therefore, A2 equals  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$ 3 or  $\mathbb{C}P_{s-1}^n(c)$ 4, according its index.

Remark 3.3.18. The assumption  $A^2 = 0$ , at any point, in Theorem 3.3.17 can be changed by rank of M is  $\leq n-1$  everywhere, and the same conclusion remains true. In particular, if M is a complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+1}(c)$ ,  $n\geq 3$ , satisfying  $A^2 = 0$  at any point, its rank cannot be equal to 2 (compare with Nomizu and Smyth [41, Theorem 6]).

On the other hand, note that each complex hypersurface  $M_p''$  in Example 3.3.7 contains the complex submanifold given by

$$z_1 = z_{n+1}, \dots, z_{n-1} = z_{2n-1}, z_n - z_{n+1} = z_{2n+1}, \quad z_{2n+1} \neq 0$$
 (3.3.8)

which is an open proper subset of  $\mathbb{C}P^n_{1;n-1}(c)$ . Thus, the topological assumption in Theorem 3.3.17 cannot be removed.

Finally, note that an analogous result to Theorem 3.3.17 can be stated for the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_s^{n+1}(-c)$ , c > 0,  $n \ge 2$ .

3.4. Complex hypersurfaces with parallel Ricci tensor. We now consider several geometric assumptions on complex hypersurfaces weaker than to be Einstein. In fact, a natural extension to the condition to be Einstein on indefinite Kaehler manifolds is to have parallel Ricci tensor. Last condition, on indefinite Kaehler manifolds, is weaker than to be Einstein. However, if we pay attention only to complex hypersurfaces we have,

THEOREM 3.4.1. Let M be a complex hypersurface of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}(c)$  with  $c\neq 0$ . If M satisfies

$$R(X,Y)S = 0 (3.4.1)$$

where R denotes the curvature tensor, S is the Ricci tensor and R(X,Y) operates on the tensor algebra as a derivation, then M is Einstein.

This result was proved by Aiyama, Ikawa, Kwon and Nakagawa in [1] as an extension of an unpublished previous result by the first author, which stated the same conclusion assuming that the hypersurface has parallel Ricci tensor, clearly a stronger assumption than (3.4.1). Under the assumption of Ricci parallel tensor, we can give an easy proof of this result. In fact, if the Ricci tensor is parallel, then the same fact holds for the operator  $A^2$ , being A the shape operator associated to a unit normal vector field on M. Therefore,  $R(X,Y)A^2Z = A^2R(X,Y)Z$  holds for all tangent vector fields X,Y,Z. By contracting this formula we obtain  $c(A^2 - \frac{\operatorname{trace}(A^2)}{2n}I) = 0$ , which gives the desired result when  $c\neq 0$ . Properly speaking, last argument proves an extension to the indefinite case of a well-known result by Nomizu and Smyth [41] and by Takahashi [56], now using a slightly different method to the Takahashi's one (Nomizu and Smyth use that the shape operator can be diagonalized, but in our case this is not always possible).

On the other hand, Takahashi proves in [57] that a complex hypersurface with parallel Ricci tensor in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  is totally geodesic. From Examples 3.3.5 and 3.3.6, we know that the same assertion is not true now. In the special case of the ambient space is  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_1$ , it is proved by Aiyama, Ikawa, Kwon and Nakagawa [1] that a spacelike (i.e. with positive definite induced metric) complex hypersurface with parallel Ricci tensor must be totally geodesic.

3.5. Semi-symmetric complex hypersurfaces. The section which ends this chapter is concerned with semi-symmetric complex hypersurfaces in the sense of Szabó [55] (or alternatively, which satisfy the Nomizu condition [39]) of an indefinite complex flat space  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$ . Namely, they satisfy

$$R(X,Y)R = 0$$
,

for any vector fields X and Y tangent to M. It turns out that the Nomizu condition implies R.S=0 and moreover it has been shown in Theorem 3.4.1 that if an indefinite hypersurface of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+1}(c')$ ,  $c'\neq 0$ , satisfies R.S=0, then M is Einstein. So, it is natural to think about this condition when the ambient indefinite complex space form is flat.

Now, suppose that M is an indefinite complex hypersurface satisfying the condition R.S = 0 of  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+p}(c')$ . It is seen that the condition R.S = 0 is

equivalent to

$$S_{i\bar{j};k\bar{l}} - S_{i\bar{j};\bar{l}k} = 0,$$

and, combining (2.3.7) together with (2.3.21) and (2.3.22), we have for an indefinite complex hypersurface M of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$ ,

$$h_{ik}\bar{h}_{jl}^3 - \bar{h}_{jl}h_{ik}^3 = 0, (3.5.1)$$

where we put  $h_{jk}^3 = \epsilon \sum_{rs} \epsilon_r \epsilon_s h_{jr} \bar{h}_{rs} h_{sk}$ , where  $\epsilon = -1$  or +1, which implies that

$$h_{jk}^3 = f h_{jk}$$
 for a function  $f$  on  $M$ ,

whenever the set consisting of points of M at which the function  $h_2$   $(=\sum_k \epsilon_k h_{k\bar{k}}^2)$  vanishes is of zero measure.

Now, let us recall the notion of cylindrical hypersurface. A complex hypersurface M of index 2s of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  is said to be cylindrical, if M is a (semi-Riemannian) product manifold of  $\mathbb{C}^{n-1}_a$  and a complex curve in  $\mathbb{C}^2_b$  orthogonal to  $\mathbb{C}^{n-1}_a$  in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  (a+b=s+t). It is clear that a cylindrical complex hypersurface M, with index 2s, of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  satisfies (3.4.1), but it is not necessary Einstein. In the definite case, Takahashi [57] proved that cylindrical complex hypersurfaces are the only complete complex hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  satisfying the condition (3.4.1), except for  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . However, this property cannot be extended to an indefinite complex flat space. In fact, we can find counter-examples among the complex hypersurfaces in Examples 3.3.6.

In connection with cylindrical complex hypersurfaces, it is natural to state the following question:

Do there exist indefinite complex hypersurfaces satisfying R.S = 0 of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  which are not Einstein and not cylindrical?

In order to settle this problem affirmatively, an indefinite complex hypersurface M of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$  satisfying the Nomizu condition is considered. By the twice exterior differentiation of the Riemannian curvature tensor R of M (see section 2.3) the Ricci formula for R is as follows:

$$\begin{split} R_{\bar{i}jk\bar{l};m\bar{n}} - R_{\bar{i}jkl;\bar{n}m} &= \sum_{r} \epsilon_{r} \Big( - R_{\bar{n}mr\bar{i}} \, R_{\bar{r}jk\bar{l}} + R_{\bar{n}mj\bar{r}} \, R_{\bar{i}rk\bar{l}} \\ &+ R_{\bar{n}mk\bar{r}} \, R_{\bar{i}jr\bar{l}} - R_{\bar{n}mr\bar{l}} \, R_{\bar{i}jk\bar{r}} \Big). \end{split}$$

Taking into account the Gauss equation (2.3.18), we have

$$(h_{m\bar{l}}^2 \bar{h}_{ni} + h_{m\bar{i}}^2 \bar{h}_{nl}) h_{jk} - (h_{k\bar{n}}^2 h_{mj} + h_{j\bar{n}}^2 h_{mk}) \bar{h}_{il} = 0,$$
 (3.5.2)

which implies the following two equations

$$h_{ik}\bar{h}_{il}^3 = h_{ik}^3\bar{h}_{il},\tag{3.5.3}$$

$$h_2 h_{ij}^3 = h_4 h_{ij}. (3.5.4)$$

where we set  $h_4 = \sum_{ij} \epsilon_i \epsilon_j h_{i\bar{j}}^2 h_{j\bar{i}}^2$ . Making use of these results, we give the following,

PROPOSITION 3.5.1. Let M be an indefinite complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}_{s+t}$ . Then M satisfies R(X,Y)R=0, for any vector fields X and Y, if and only if

$$h_{il}h_{kl} = h_{ik}h_{jl} \quad \text{or} \quad h_{i\bar{j}}^2 = 0.$$
 (3.5.5)

Now we come back to the family of complex hypersurfaces  $M_s^{2n}(h_j; c_j)$  of  $\mathbb{C}_s^{2n+1}$  given in Example 3.3.6. As it is shown by Aiyama, Ikawa, Kwon and Nakagawa in [1], at any point z of  $M_s^{2n}(h_j; c_j)$  the vector  $\xi_z$  defined by

$$\xi_z = (\bar{h}'_a, -\bar{h}'_x, -\bar{c}_a\bar{h}'_{a^*}, -\bar{c}_x\bar{h}'_{x^*}, 1),$$

where  $1 \le a \le s$ ,  $s+1 \le x \le n$ ,  $a^* = a+n$ ,  $x^* = x+n$  and  $h'_j = \partial h_j/\partial z_j$  is spacelike and normal. By setting  $\xi' = \xi/|\xi|$ , we have a unit spacelike normal vector field  $\xi'$  on  $M_s^{2n}(h_j; c_j)$ .

The components of the second fundamental form derived from  $\xi'$  relative to the tangent frame  $\{f_A\}$  defined by

$$f_A = (0, \dots, 1, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0, h'_A),$$

where  $1 \le A \le 2n$ , are given by

$$h_{ij} = \delta_{ij} h_i''/|\xi|, \quad h_{ij^*} = c_i \delta_{ij} h_i''/|\xi|,$$
  
$$h_{i^*j} = c_i \delta_{ij} h_i''/|\xi|, \quad h_{i^*j^*} = c_i^2 \delta_{ij} h_i''/|\xi|,$$

where  $h_i'' = \partial h_i'/\partial z_i$ . This means that it turns out that the first equation of (3.5.5) holds true, which implies that  $M_s^{2n}(h_j; c_j)$  satisfies the Nomizu condition R.R = 0. Thus one finds,

THEOREM 3.5.2. There exist many indefinite complex hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}^{2n+1}_s$ , for any s as above, with R.R=0 which are not Einstein and not cylindrical.

## Chapter 4. Complex submanifolds

4.1. Examples of indefinite complex submanifolds. Before going to give several classification results, we will explain several relevant examples of complex submanifolds of indefinite complex space forms.

EXAMPLE 4.1.1. Let  $f: M \to \widetilde{M}_S^N(c')$  be a holomorphic isometric immersion of an indefinite Kaehler manifold M into a complete and simply connected indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_S^N(c')$ . Then f is said to be full if f(M) is not contained in a proper totally geodesic (degenerate or not) complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}_S^N(c')$ . It is seen in [48] that

 $\mathbb{C}P^n_s(c)$  admits a full holomorphic isometric immersion into  $\mathbb{C}P^N_s(c')$  if and only if

c' = kc for some positive integer k,

$$N = \binom{n+k}{k} - 1,$$

and

$$S = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor (k+1)/2 \rfloor - 1} {s+2j \choose 2j+1} {n-s+k-2j-1 \choose k-2j-1}$$

if s > 0, [(k+1)/2] denoting the greatest integer less than or equal to (k+1)/2, and

$$S = 0$$
 if  $s = 0$ .

Changing the (negative definite) Kaehler metric of  $\mathbb{C}P_n^n(c)$  by its opposite, we conclude that:

There is a full holomorphic isometric immersion of the (classical) complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H^n(-c)$  into the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H^{N(n,k)}_{S'(n,k)}(-kc)$ , where S'(n,k) = N(n,k) - S(n,n,k) and

$$S(n, n, k) = \sum_{j=0}^{[(k+1)/2]-1} \binom{n+2j}{2j+1}.$$

It is seen that N(n,2) - n = S'(n,2) = n(n+1)/2 and N(n,k) - n > S'(n,k) if k > 2.

EXAMPLE 4.1.2. For the homogeneous coordinate systems  $z_1, \ldots, z_s, z_{s+1}, \ldots, z_{n+1}$  of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$  and  $w_1, \ldots, w_t, w_{t+1}, \ldots, w_{m+1}$  of  $\mathbb{C}P_t^m(c)$ , a mapping  $\Psi$  of

$$\mathbb{C}P^n_s(c) \times \mathbb{C}P^m_t(c)$$
 into  $\mathbb{C}P^{N(n,m)}_{R(n,m,s,t)}(c)$ ,

with N(n,m) = n + m + nm and R(n,m,s,t) = s(m-t) + t(n-s) + s + t, is defined by

$$\Psi[(z,w)] = [(z_a w_u, z_r w_x, z_b w_y, z_s w_v)],$$

where

$$a, b, \ldots = 1, \ldots, s;$$
  $r, s, \ldots = s + 1, \ldots, n + 1,$   
 $x, y, \ldots = 1, \ldots, t;$   $u, v, \ldots = t + 1, \ldots, m + 1.$ 

Then  $\Psi$  is a well defined holomorphic mapping and it is seen by Ikawa, Nakagawa and the first author [20] that  $\Psi$  is also a full isometric embedding, which is called the *indefinite Segre embedding*. In particular, if s=t=0, then  $\Psi$  is the classical Segre embedding (Nakagawa and Takagi [37]). Recall that, in the definite case,  $\mathbb{C}P^1(c) \times \mathbb{C}P^1(c)$  is the usual complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^2$  in  $\mathbb{C}P^3(c)$ . However,  $\mathbb{C}Q_2^2$  and  $\mathbb{C}Q_1^*$  are two different quadrics in  $\mathbb{C}P_2^3(c)$ , namely, the indefinite complex quadrics of Examples 3.2.3 and 3.3.1, respectively.

Using once again how  $\mathbb{C}H_s^n(-c)$  is obtained from the indefinite complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P_{n-s}^n(c)$ , another indefinite Segre embedding

$$\Psi: \mathbb{C}H^n_s(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^m_t(-c) \to \mathbb{C}H^{N(n,m)}_{S(n,m,s,t)}(-c)$$

is given, where S(n, m, s, t) = (n - s)(m - t) + st + s + t. In particular, for s = t = 0 we have a holomorphic isometric embedding

$$\Psi: \mathbb{C}H^{n}(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^{m}(-c) \rightarrow \mathbb{C}H^{N(n,m)}_{nm}(-c)$$

which permits to see a Riemannian product of two complex hyperbolic spaces as a spacelike complex submanifold of certain indefinite complex hyperbolic space. Moreover, this submanifold has negative definite normal bundle and parallel second fundamental form [20]. Recall that, Nakagawa and Takagi [37], an analogue to the Segre embedding for complex hyperbolic spaces cannot be stated. In fact, they proved that if there exists a holomorphic isometric immersion of a product of two Kaehler manifolds into a complex space form  $\widetilde{M}(c)$ , then its holomorphic sectional curvature satisfies  $c \geq 0$ . The fact of the metric on each normal space is, of course, positive definite is a crucial point for the proof of this result. Thus, last indefinite Segre embedding gives an alternative answer to the negative Nakagawa and Takagi's result in the area of indefinite Riemannian geometry.

4.2. RIGIDITY OF HOLOMORPHIC ISOMETRIC IMMERSIONS. Extending classical Calabi's rigidity theorem [12] for full holomorphic isometric immersions into complete and simply connected complex space forms, the first author [48] and Umehara [59] independently proved the following result,

Theorem 4.2.1. Let  $f: M \to \widetilde{M}_S^N(c)$  and  $f': M \to \widetilde{M}_{S'}^{N'}(c)$  be two full holomorphic isometric immersions of the same indefinite Kaehler manifold M into simply connected complete indefinite complex space forms of holomorphic sectional curvature  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\widetilde{M}_S^N(c)$  and  $\widetilde{M}_{S'}^{N'}(c)$ , where N, N' denote the complex dimensions and 2S, 2S' are the respective index. Then

$$N = N', \qquad S = S'$$

and there exists a unique holomorphic rigid motion  $\Phi$  of  $\widetilde{M}^N_S(c)$  such that

$$\Phi \circ f = f'$$
.

Recall that the assumption of being full is an affine notion; i.e. only depends on the Levi-Civita connection of the ambient space. It should be pointed out that the assumption: f(M) is not contained in a non-degenerate proper totally geodesic complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}_S^N(c)$ , which is weaker to the previously given one, does not get to the rigidity. For a counter example let us consider  $f, f' : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}_1^3$  given by  $f(z) = (z^2 + 1, z^2 + 2, z)$  and  $f'(z) = (z^3 + 1, z^3 + 2, z)$ . Both are holomorphic isometric immersions. Clearly, there exists no holomorphic rigid motion  $\Phi$  of  $\mathbb{C}_1^3$  such that  $\Phi \circ f = f'$ . Note that  $f(\mathbb{C})$  and  $f'(\mathbb{C})$  are contained in the degenerate complex hyperplane  $z_1 - z_2 + 1 = 0$  of  $\mathbb{C}_1^3$ , but  $f(\mathbb{C})$  and  $f'(\mathbb{C})$  are not contained in a proper non-degenerate complex affine subspace of  $\mathbb{C}_1^3$ .

On the other hand, Aiyama, Nakagawa and the second author proved in [3] the following two results,

Theorem 4.2.2. Let  $M_s^n(c)$  be an n-dimensional indefinite complex space form which admits a holomorphic isometric immersion in another one  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+p}(c')$ .

- (1) If  $c' \neq 0$ , then c' = kc and  $n + p \geq {n+k \choose k} 1$  for some positive integer k.
- (2) c' = 0 if and only if c = 0.

PROPOSITION 4.2.3. Let  $M_s^n(c)$  be an n-dimensional indefinite complex space form which admits a holomorphic isometric immersion in  $\widetilde{M}_{s+t}^{n+p}(c'), c' \neq 0$  and t = p.

- (1) If c' > 0, then c' = c (and  $M_s^n$  is totally geodesic).
- (2) If c' < 0, then c' = c or 2c, the first case arising only when  $M_s^n$  is totally geodesic and the other one arising only when s = 0.

The indefinite Segre embedding described in Example 4.1.2 can be characterized as follows [20],

THEOREM 4.2.4. Let  $M_s^n$  and  ${M'}_t^m$  be complete indefinite Kaehler manifolds with complex dimensions n and m and index 2s and 2t, respectively. Assume there exists a holomorphic isometric immersion  $\varphi: M_s^n \times {M'}_t^m \to \mathbb{C}P_R^N(c)$ . Then

- (1)  $N \ge N(n, m)$  and  $R \ge R(n, m, s, t)$ .
- (2) If N=N(n,m) then R=R(n,m,s,t),  $M_s^n$  is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c)$ ,  $M_t^m$  is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}P_t^m(c)$  and, by identifying  $M_s^n \times M_t^m$  with  $\mathbb{C}P_s^n(c) \times \mathbb{C}P_t^m(c)$ , the immersion  $\varphi$  is an embedding obtained by the composition of the indefinite Segre embedding  $\Psi$  given in Example 4.1.2 and a rigid motion of  $\mathbb{C}P_{R(n,m,s,t)}^{N(n,m)}(c)$ .

This result can be considered as an answer to the "converse" problem for the statement of the indefinite Segre embedding. Moreover, it extends to the indefinite case a well known theorem by Chen in [13]. As a consequence, we have [20],

COROLLARY 4.2.5. Let  $M^n$  and  ${M'}^m$  be complete Kaehler manifolds. Assume there exists a holomorphic isometric immersion  $\varphi: M^n \times M'^m \to \mathbb{C}H^N_S(-c), \ c>0$ . Then

- (1)  $N \ge n + m + nm$  and  $S \ge nm$ ,
- (2) If N=n+m+nm, then S=nm,  $M^n$  is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}H^n(-c)$ ,  $M'^m$  is holomorphically isometric to  $\mathbb{C}H^n(-c)$  and, by identifying  $M^n \times M'^m$  with  $\mathbb{C}H^n(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^m(-c)$ , the immersion  $\varphi$  is an embedding obtained by the composition of the indefinite Segre embedding  $\Psi: \mathbb{C}H^n(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^m(-c) \to \mathbb{C}H^{n+m+nm}(-c)$  in Example 4.1.2 and a rigid motion of  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+m+nm}(-c)$ .

Now let us note that the second fundamental form h of the indefinite Segre embedding  $\Psi$  is parallel; i.e. it is invariant by parallel translation with respect to the normal connection, or equivalently, it satisfies

In the definite case, this property gives a well known characterization of the classical) Segre embedding (see Nakagawa and Takagi [37], for instance). Now, this fact also characterizes  $\Psi$  and gives, as a consequence, the following result of particular interest [20],

THEOREM 4.2.6. Let  $M^n$  and  $M'^m$  be complete Kaehler manifolds. Assume there exists a holomorphic isometric immersion  $\varphi: M^n \times M'^n \to \mathbb{C}H^N_{nm}(-c), \ c > 0$ . If the second fundamental form of  $\varphi$  is parallel, then  $\varphi$  is obtained from the Segre embedding

$$\Psi: \mathbb{C}H^n(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^m(-c) \to \mathbb{C}H^{n+m+nm}_{nm}(-c) \subset \mathbb{C}H^N_{nm}(-c)$$

and a rigid motion of  $\mathbb{C}H_{nm}^{n+m+nm}(-c)$ .

Finally, following the same idea as in [13] for the definite case, it is given in [20] another characterization of the indefinite Segre embedding

$$\Psi: \mathbb{C}H^{n}(-c) \times \mathbb{C}H^{m}(-c) \to \mathbb{C}H^{n+m+nm}_{nm}(-c),$$

now in terms of the square of the length of its second fundamental form, which is given by  $h_2 = -cnm < 0$ .

- 4.3. Spacelike complex submanifolds. We begin this section with the statement of a uniqueness result due to Aiyama, Kwon and Nakagawa [2]. In fact, they proved the following Bernstein-type result,
- THEOREM 4.3.1. Let  $M^n$  be a complete spacelike complex submanifold of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_s^{n+s}(c)$ . If  $c \geq 0$  then  $M^n$  must be totally geodesic.
- Remark 4.3.2. (1) Note that, in this result, the index of the ambient space agrees with the real codimension of the submanifold; i.e., the normal bundle is assumed to be negative definite. Clearly, this assumption cannot be removed (consider, for instance, the classical complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  as a spacelike complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+s+1}(c)$ , s > 0).
- (2) In particular, Theorem 4.3.1 classifies complete spacelike complex hypersurfaces of  $\mathbb{C}P_1^{n+1}(c)$  and of  $\mathbb{C}_1^{n+1}$ , without the assumption of being Einstein
- (3) Theorem 4.3.1 cannot be extended to the case c < 0. In fact, the complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n$  of Example 3.3.3 is a complete spacelike complex hypersurface of  $\mathbb{C}H_1^{n+1}(-k)$ , k > 0, which is not totally geodesic. Even more, the

indefinite Segre embedding, which we have given in Example 4.1.2, provides us with (n+m)-dimensional,  $n \neq m$ , complete spacelike complex submanifolds of  $\mathbb{C}H_{nm}^{n+m+nm}(-k)$ , k > 0, which are not Einstein. Finally, we refer the reader to [23] for another related Bernstein-type result obtained using the same technique as in [2].

Next, we will focus our attention in the proof of Theorem 4.3.1. Let us consider the function  $h_2$  on M; i.e., the square length of the second fundamental form. Clearly, it satisfies  $h_2 \leq 0$  from the assumption on the normal bundle, and  $h_2 = 0$  if and only if M is totally geodesic. In [2] an adapted version for indefinite metrics of classical Simon's formula, [42, Proposition 3.1], is used. In fact, for a complex submanifold  $M_s^n$  of an indefinite complex space form  $M_{s+t}^{n+p}(c)$ , by means of (2.3.22), the Laplacian of the function  $h_2$  can be computed as follows

$$\triangle h_2 = (n+2)\frac{c}{2}h_2 - (2h_4 + A_2) + \sum_{xijk} \epsilon_x \epsilon_i \epsilon_j \epsilon_k h_{ijk}^x \bar{h}_{ijk}^x$$
 (4.3.1)

where  $h_4 = \sum_{ij} \epsilon_i \epsilon_j h_{i\bar{j}}^2 h_{j\bar{i}}^2$ , and  $A_2 = \sum_{xy} \epsilon_x \epsilon_y A_y^x A_x^y$ , with  $A_y^x = \sum_{ij} \epsilon_i \epsilon_j h_{ij}^x \bar{h}_{ij}^y$ . Now let M be an n-dimensional spacelike complex submanifold of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$ . From the fact that M is spacelike we know that the Hermitian matrix  $(h_{j\bar{k}}^2)$  is, at any point, negative semi-definite, and hence its eigenvalues  $\lambda_j$  are non-positive real valued functions. On the other hand, the Hermitian matrix  $(A_y^x)$  is by definition, at any point, positive semi-definite, whose eigenvalues are denoted by  $\lambda_x$ . Then  $\lambda_x$  are non-negative and, making use of the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$(-h_2)^2 \ge h_4 = \sum_x \lambda_x^2 \ge (-h_2)^2 / n,$$

$$h_2^2 \ge A_2 = \sum_x \lambda_x^2 \ge (\sum_x \lambda_x)^2 / p = h_2^2 / p.$$
(4.3.2)

From (4.3.1), we get

$$\triangle h_2 \le \{ np(n+2)ch_2 - 2(n+2p)h_2^2 \}/2np,$$

where the equality holds true if and only if

$$\lambda_j = \lambda$$
,  $\lambda_x = \mu$  for any indices j and x,

and the second fundamental form h is parallel.

This means for the non-negative function  $f = -h_2$  the following inequality

$$\Delta f \ge \{ np(n+2)cf + 2(n+2p)f^2 \} / 2np. \tag{4.3.3}$$

And therefore, using  $c \geq 0$  we get

$$\triangle f \ge \frac{n+2p}{np} f^2 \tag{4.3.4}$$

Next, we can use the following result proved by Nishikawa in [38],

Theorem 4.3.3. Let M be a complete Riemannian manifold whose Ricci curvature is bounded from below, and let f be a non-negative smooth function on M. If f satisfies

$$\triangle f \ge kf^2$$

where k is a positive constant, then f = 0.

In order to end this sketch for the proof of Theorem 4.3.1, we only have to note that the Ricci curvature of a spacelike complex submanifold  $M^n$  of  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$  is bounded from below by (n+1)c/2, as a consequence of (2.3.19).

It should be pointed out that Theorem 4.3.3 is in fact a nice consequence of the well known maximum principle by Omori [43] and Yau [62]. Following [3], we will state here this result in a slightly different form to the original one.

THEOREM 4.3.4. Let M be a complete Riemannian manifold whose Ricci curvature is bounded from below and let F be a function of class  $C^2$  on M. If F is bounded from below, then for any point p and any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists a point  $q \in M$  such that

$$|\nabla F(q)| < \epsilon$$
,  $\triangle F(q) > -\epsilon$  and  $F(q) \le F(p)$ .

Now, we will explain a new proof of Theorem 4.3.1 for the case c > 0. It is inspired on the arguments in the paper by A. Ros [49]. First note that  $M^n$  must be compact when c > 0. In fact, in this case the Ricci curvature is bounded from below by the positive constant (n+1)c/2. This fact and completeness imply compactness, because of the classical Myers theorem.

As in A. Ros [49], take c=1 and let UM be the unitary tangent bundle to M; i.e. the hypersurface of the tangent bundle TM consisting of all tangent vectors u which satisfy  $\langle u, u \rangle = 1$ , where we are denoting by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  both the

metric of  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$  and M. Now consider the smooth function  $f:UM\to\mathbb{R}$ , given by

$$f(u) = \langle h(u, u), h(u, u) \rangle,$$

where h is the second fundamental form of the submanifold. Clearly, this function satisfies  $f(u) \leq 0$  and f = 0 if and only if M is totally geodesic.

Note that UM is compact because M is assumed to be compact and the fiber of the unitary tangent bundle UM is always compact. Therefore f attains its minimum at some point  $v \in UM$ . If we prove that f(v) = 0 then f = 0, as desired.

The formula (2.8) in Ros's paper [49] (which is obtained from the Hessian of f at v) remains true here if v is the minimum (Ros arguments in his proof on the unitary tangent vector where f attains its maximum). Now, because the normal bundle is negative definite, the right hand side of the quoted formula (2.8) is  $\leq 0$ . But from our assumption (v is minimum) the same right member is v0. Hence

$$f(v)(1 - 4f(v)) = 0,$$

which implies f(v) = 0.

We would like point out now that Theorem 4.3.1 can be seen as the complex version of another Bernstein-type result, but now in the real case, which was obtained by Ishihara in [21]. The main tool used by Ishihara was also the classical approach using Simon's formula for the square of the length of the second fundamental form. In the case c > 0, a new proof to Ishihara's theorem can be performed with a slight modification of the previously explained method. On the other hand, by means of certain integral formulas introduced by Alias and the first author [4], see also [5], it is proved the following result,

THEOREM 4.3.5. Let M be an n-dimensional complete spacelike submanifold with zero mean curvature in the indefinite sphere  $\mathbb{S}_q^{n+p}(1)$ ,  $1 \leq q \leq p$ . If the Ricci tensor S of M satisfies

$$S(u,u) \ge (n-1)g(u,u)$$

for all tangent vector u, then M must be totally geodesic.

Note that in the case p=q the inequality in Theorem 4.3.5 is automatically satisfied. Thus, this result generalizes Ishihara's theorem [21] when the ambient space is  $\mathbb{S}_p^{n+p}(1)$ . From previous results, it arises in a natural way to decide if the following assertion is true,

Conjecture. Let  $M^n$  be a complete spacelike complex submanifold of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_q^{n+p}(c)$ ,  $1 \leq q \leq p$ , c > 0. If the Ricci tensor S of M satisfies

$$S(u,u) \ge \frac{(n+1)c}{2}g(u,u)$$

for all tangent vector u, then M must be totally geodesic.

Of course, without the restriction on the Ricci tensor, the conclusion M is totally geodesic, in previous conjecture, cannot be achieved (consider, for instance, the classical complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  as a spacelike complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}P_s^{n+s+1}(c)$ , s>0).

Now we come back to comment Theorem 4.3.1. From Remark 4.3.2 we know that it cannot be extended to the case  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$ , c < 0. Thus, a new assumption is necessary to impose on some curvature of the complex submanifold. Therefore, consider next, following Aiyama, Nakagawa and the second author [3], spacelike complex submanifolds with constant scalar curvature of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$ , c < 0.

The square of the norm of the tensor field (locally) defined by

$$\sum \{ \epsilon_x h_{jk}^x h_{il}^x - h_2(\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} + \delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}) / n(n+1) \}$$

gives rise to the inequality

$$A_2 \ge 2h_2^2/n(n+1),$$

where the equality holds true if and only if M is of constant holomorphic sectional curvature. From this it follows that

$$\triangle f \ge (n+2)\{n(n+1)cf + 4f^2\}/2n(n+1).$$
 (4.3.5)

As a direct consequence of these estimates, one finds without any assumption on completeness the following (see [3])

PROPOSITION 4.3.6. Let M be a spacelike complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$  with constant scalar curvature r.

- (1) If  $c \ge 0$ , then M is totally geodesic.
- (2) If c < 0 and  $r \ge n^2(n+p+1)c/(n+2p)$ , then M is Einstein,  $r = n^2(n+p+1)c/(n+2p)$  and the second fundamental form is parallel.

(3) If c < 0 and  $r \ge n(n+1)c/2$ , then M is a complex space form  $\widetilde{M}^n(c/2)$  and  $p \ge n(n+1)/2$ .

As we pointed out in previous Remark 4.3.2(2), in the case where c < 0, there are many complete spacelike complex submanifolds which are not Einstein. However, it is proved in [3] the following,

THEOREM 4.3.7. Let M be an  $n(\geq 3)$ -dimensional complete spacelike complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ , p>0, c<0.

- (1) If  $r \ge n^2(n+p+1)/(n+2p)$ , then M is Einstein,  $r = n^2(n+p+1)c/(n+2p)$  and the second fundamental form is parallel.
- (2) If  $r \ge n(n+1)c/2$ , then  $M = \mathbb{C}H^n(c/2)$ ,  $p \ge n(n+1)/2$ .

COROLLARY 4.3.8. Let M be a complete spacelike complete complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}_{n}^{n+p}(c)$ , c < 0.

- (1) If every Ricci curvature of M is greater than or equal to n(n + p + 1)c/2(n + 2p), then M is Einstein.
- (2) If every Ricci curvature of M is greater than or equal to (n+1)c/4, then M is a complex space form  $M^n(c/2)$ .
- 4.4. Complex submanifolds of definite complex space forms. In the last section of this chapter, motivate from previous results, let us study complete complex submanifolds with constant scalar curvature of a (definite) complex space form  $\widetilde{M}^{n+p}(c)$ . Let M be an n-dimensional complex submanifold of  $\widetilde{M}^{n+p}(c)$ . First, recall that the components  $S_{i\bar{j};k\bar{l}}$  and  $S_{i\bar{j};k\bar{l}}$  of the second covariant derivative of the Ricci tensor S of M are expressed by (2.3.6). On the other hand, the Ricci formula for S is given by (2.3.7), (primes in both formulas should be forgotten here). Assume now that the scalar curvature r of M is constant. Since we have  $\sum_j S_{j\bar{j};k} = 0$ , for all k, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \triangle S_{k\bar{j}} &= \sum_{l} (S_{k\bar{l}} S_{l\bar{j}} - R_{\bar{i}kl\bar{j}} S_{i\bar{l}}) \\ &= c (2n S_{k\bar{j}} - r \delta_{kj})/4 \\ &- \sum_{ls} \big\{ h_{k\bar{l}}^2 S_{l\bar{j}} - h_{kl}^x \bar{h}_{js}^x S_{s\bar{l}} \big\}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, by combining the relation

$$\sum_{jk} S_{j\bar{k}} S_{k\bar{j}} - r^2/4n = h_4 - h_2^2/n$$

together with the above equation, the following one

$$\triangle(h_4 - h_2^2/n) = nc(h_4 - h_2^2/n) + 2\sum_{i} h_{ls;i}^x \bar{h}_{ls;j}^y h_{jt}^y \bar{h}_{ti}^x - \sum_{ilix} (h_{il}^x S_{\bar{l}j} - S_{i\bar{l}} h_{lj}^x) \overline{(h_{is}^x S_{\bar{s}j} - S_{i\bar{s}} h_{sj}^x)}$$

$$(4.4.1)$$

is derived. Then by using Theorem 4.3.7 next result is proved (see [3]),

Theorem 4.4.1. Let M be a complete complex submanifold with constant scalar curvature of a complex space form  $\widehat{M}^{n+p}(c)$ , c > 0. If the Ricci tensor of M and any shape operator are commutative, then M is Einstein.

Recall that in the case where M is compact, this result was proved by Kon in [26]. A complex hypersurface M of  $\widetilde{M}^{n+1}(c)$  are next considered. Assume that the scalar curvature r of M is constant. Then (4.4.1) is simplified to give

$$\triangle h_4 = nc(h_4 - h_2^2/n) + 2\sum_{ijls} h_{i\bar{j}}^2 h_{jl;s} \bar{h}_{il;s}.$$

On the other hand, since we have

$$\sum_{ls} h_{ls;i} \bar{h}_{ls;j} = -c \{ h_2 \delta_{ij} + 2h_{i\bar{j}}^2 \} / 2 + \{ 2h_{i\bar{j}}^4 + h_2 h_{i\bar{j}}^2 \},$$

because of the constant scalar curvature and (2.3.22), the above equation is reduced to

$$\triangle h_4 = c\{(n-2)h_4 - 2h_2^2\} + 2(2h_6 + h_2h_4),$$

where  $h_6 = \sum_{jrs} h_{j\bar{r}}^2 h_{r\bar{s}}^2 h_{s\bar{j}}^2$ . For the eigenvalues  $\lambda_j$  of the Hermitian matrix  $(h_{j\bar{k}}^2)$ , the function  $h_6$  equals to  $\sum_j \lambda_j^3$  and hence we have

$$h_6 \ge h_2 h_4 / n.$$

Thus we achieve

$$\triangle h_4 \ge c(n-4)h_4 + 2(n+2)h_2h_4/n,$$
 (4.4.2)

provided that  $c \le 0$ . By means of this inequality, the following theorem for complex hypersurfaces is proved,

THEOREM 4.4.2. Let M be a complete complex hypersurface of  $\widetilde{M}^{n+1}(c)$ . If the scalar curvature of M is constant, then the following statements hold true:

- (1) If  $c \ge 0$ , then M is totally geodesic or  $S = \frac{nc}{2}g$ , the later case arising only when c > 0.
- (2) If c < 0 and  $n \le 4$ , then M is totally geodesic.

Remark 4.4.3. As recalled previously, B. Smyth, [53], [54], classified complete Einstein Kaehler hypersurfaces in a simply connected complete complex space form  $M^{n+1}(c)$ , and asserted that they are totally geodesic for  $c \leq 0$ , and they are either totally geodesic or the complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  for c>0. For higher codimension the situation seems to be more complicated. Let us remark that Smyth's theorem was generalized by Y. Matsuyama [34] in case of complete Einstein complex surfaces  $M^2$  in a complex space form  $M^{n+2}(c)$ , and by K. Tsukada [58] for codimension 2, i.e., in the case of complete Einstein Kaehler manifolds  $M^n$  in a complex space form  $\widetilde{M}^{n+2}(c)$ . More generally, M. Umehara [59] proved that every complete Einstein Kaehler n-submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}^{n+p}$  or  $\mathbb{C}H^{n+p}$ ,  $n \geq 1$ , (i.e. with arbitrary codimension) must be always totally geodesic. It should noted that his proof is based on several properties of the diastasis of Einstein Kaehler submanifolds (the diastasis of a Kaehler manifold was introduced by E. Calabi [12] and used by the first author [48] to prove rigidity, in the indefinite setting, of full holomorphic isometric immersions, Theorem 4.2.1).

## Chapter 5. Totally real bisectional curvature

5.1. MOTIVATIONS. In Chapter 2, we recalled the notion of totally real bisectional curvature defined on a Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$ . Concerning several results with such a kind of curvature, in section 5.2 we will show that a complete Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  with positively lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature  $B(u,v) \geq b > 0$  and constant scalar curvature is holomorphically isometric to a complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^n(c)$ . Before obtaining this result we should verify that a complete Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  with  $B(u,v) \geq b > 0$  must be Einstein. Moreover we also show that the positive constant b in the above estimation is the best possible. This means that the condition of a positive lower bound for the totally real bisectional curvature cannot be replaced by the non-negativity of this curvature; in fact, it is not difficult to show an example of complete Kaehler manifold with non-negative totally real bisectional curvature  $B(u,v) \geq 0$  but not Einstein (see Remark 5.2.3).

S.I. Goldberg and S. Kobayashi [17] showed that a complete Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  with positive holomorphic bisectional curvature H(u,v)>0 must be Einstein. In order to get this result they should verified that, under their assumptions, the Ricci tensor of  $\widetilde{M}$  is positive definite. In the proof they used the fact that the holomorphic sectional curvature H(u) is positive, which necessarily follows from the condition H(u,v)>0. But the condition of B(u,v)>0 carries less information than the condition of H(u,v)>0, and it gives us no meaning to use the S.I. Goldberg and S. Kobayashi method to derive the fact that M is Einstein. That is, we cannot use the condition of H(u)>0. However, in spite of this weaker condition  $B(u,v)\geq b>0$  by making use of the maximum principle due to Omori [43] and Yau [62], Theorem 4.3.4, we can also obtain the desired result.

As mentioned at the end of section 2.3, the totally real bisectional curvature B(u,v) can be also considered for non degenerate totally real planes  $\mathrm{Span}\{u,v\}$  in any indefinite Kaehler manifold. In [7], M. Barros and the first author asserted that the above mentioned Houh's result [18] can be extended to indefinite Kaehler manifolds.

We show in section 4.3, Aiyama, Nakagawa and the second author [3], the classification problem of spacelike complex submanifolds, with bounded scalar curvature, of the indefinite complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ , c<0. Being motivated by this result, in section 5.3 we also study those classification problems with bounded totally real bisectional curvature. Finally in section 5.4, we will deal with the classification of complex submanifolds  $M^n$ , with bounded totally real bisectional curvature, of the complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+p}(c)$ , c>0.

5.2. Complete Kaehler manifolds with positive totally real bisectional curvature. Let  $(\widetilde{M},g,J)$  be an n-dimensional Kaehler manifold. It is well known that its Ricci 2-form is harmonic if and only the scalar curvature of  $\widetilde{M}$  is constant. In order to prove that the second Betti number of a compact connected Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  with positive holomorphic bisectional curvature H(u,v)>0 is one, S.I. Golberg and S. Kobayashi [17] used the fact that H(u)>0. Thus the Ricci 2-form is proportional to the Kaehler 2-form, so that  $\widetilde{M}$  becomes an Einstein manifold.

But, as mentioned, the assumption B(u, v) > 0 is weaker than H(u, v) > 0. Thus in order to get the previous result it is impossible for us to use H(u) > 0 with the condition B(u, v) > 0. From this point of view, the maximum principle due to Omori [43] and Yau [62], Theorem 4.3.4, has been used by Ki and the second author in [24] to obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.2.1. Let  $\widetilde{M}$  be an n-dimensional complete Kaehler manifold with constant scalar curvature. Assume that the totally real bisectional curvature is lower bounded for some positive constant b. Then  $\widetilde{M}$  is Einstein.

In order to prove this theorem, we need the following result [24],

LEMMA 5.2.2. Under the same assumption as stated in Theorem 5.2.1, the Ricci curvature of  $\widetilde{M}$  is bounded from below.

Next by using Lemma 5.2.2, we will complete the proof of Theorem 5.2.1. In order to do that, we fix a constant a > 0, and consider the smooth positive function

$$F = (f+a)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$

where we put  $f = S_2 - \frac{r^2}{4n}$ , with  $S_2 = \sum_{BC} S_{B\bar{C}} S_{C\bar{B}}$  (see section 2.3). Note that  $f \geq 0$  and f = 0 if and only if the manifold is Einstein.

We may assume that  $S_{B\bar{C}} = \lambda_B \delta_{BC}$  locally, where  $\lambda_B$  is a real valued function. Since r is constant, from (2.3.5) it follows that

$$\sum_{B} S_{B\bar{B};C} = \sum_{C} S_{C\bar{B};B} = 0.$$

This fact, together (2.3.5) and (2.3.7), and taking into account (2.3.3), permit us to compute the Laplacian of the function  $S_2$  to get

$$\frac{1}{2} \triangle S_2 = \frac{1}{2} |\nabla S|^2 + \sum_{BC} S_{\bar{C}B} \Big( \lambda_B S_{B\bar{C}} - \sum_A \lambda_A R_{\bar{A}AB\bar{C}} \Big),$$

where  $\mid \nabla S \mid^2 = 2 \sum S_{A\bar{B};C} \bar{S}_{A\bar{B};C}.$  Therefore

$$\triangle S_2 \ge \sum_{AB} (\lambda_A - \lambda_B)^2 R_{\bar{A}AB\bar{B}},\tag{5.2.1}$$

and the equality holds if and only if  $\nabla S = 0$ .

According to our assumptions and the above definition of f, from (5.2.1) we get the following differential inequality

$$\triangle f \ge 2nbf,\tag{5.2.2}$$

and the equality holds if and only if  $\nabla S = 0$ .

Now, Lemma 5.3.2 is claimed in order to apply Theorem 4.3.4 (Omori [43] and Yau [62]) to the function  $F = (f + a)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  which has been previously constructed. Thus, for each positive number  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists a point  $p_{\epsilon}$  such that

$$|\nabla F|(p_{\epsilon}) < \epsilon, \quad \triangle F(p_{\epsilon}) > -\epsilon, \quad F(p_{\epsilon}) < \text{Inf } F + \epsilon.$$
 (5.2.3)

It follows from these inequalities that

$$\epsilon \left(3\epsilon + 2F(p_{\epsilon})\right) > F(p_{\epsilon})^{4} \triangle f(p_{\epsilon}) \ge 0.$$
 (5.2.4)

Thus for a convergent sequence  $\{\epsilon_m\}$ ,  $\epsilon_m \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $\epsilon_m > 0$ , and  $\epsilon_m \to 0$  as  $m \to \infty$ , there is a point sequence  $\{p_m\}$  in M so that the sequence  $\{F(p_m)\}$  satisfies (5.2.3) and converges to  $F_0$ , by taking a subsequence if necessary, because the sequence  $\{F(p_m)\}$  is bounded. Making use of (5.2.3) we have  $F_0 = \text{Inf } F$  and hence  $f(p_m) \to f_0 = \text{Sup} f$ . It follows from (5.2.4) that we have

$$\epsilon_m \{3\epsilon_m + 2F(p_m)\} > F(p_m)^4 \triangle f(p_m) \ge 0,$$
 (5.2.5)

and the left hand side converges to 0 because the function F is bounded. Thus we get

$$F(p_m)^4 \triangle f(p_m) \rightarrow 0$$

as  $m \to \infty$ . As is already seen, the Ricci curvature is bounded from below i.e., so is any  $\lambda_B$ . Since  $r = 2\sum_B \lambda_B$  is constant,  $\lambda_B$  is bounded from above. Hence  $F = (f+a)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  is bounded from below by a positive constant. From (5.2.5) it follows that

$$\triangle f(p_m) \rightarrow 0$$

as  $m\rightarrow\infty$ . But, from (5.2.2) we have that

$$\triangle f(p_m) \ge 2nb f(p_m) \ge 0.$$

Thus we get  $f(p_m) \to 0 = \text{Inf} f$ . Since  $f(p_m) \to \text{Sup} f$ , Sup f = Inf f = 0. Hence f = 0 on M. That is, M is Einstein. This ends the sketch of proof for Theorem 5.2.1.

Remark 5.2.3. The assumption of the constant bound b > 0 in Theorem 5.2.1 is the best possible. This means that the condition of the existence of a positive lower bound for the totally real bisectional curvature cannot be replaced by the non-negativity of this curvature. In fact, there is a complete Kaehler manifold with non-negative totally real bisectional curvature  $B(u, v) \ge 0$  but not Einstein constructed as follows.

Consider the Riemannian product manifold  $\mathbb{C}P^{n_1}(c_1)\times\mathbb{C}P^{n_2}(c_2)$ . It is not difficult to see that the totally real bisectional curvature of this Kaehler manifold is given by

$$R_{\bar{A}AB\bar{B}} = \begin{cases} R_{\bar{a}ab\bar{b}} = \frac{c_1}{2} & \text{if } A = a, B = b, \\ 0 & \text{if } A = a, B = s, \\ R_{\bar{r}rs\bar{s}} = \frac{c_2}{2} & \text{if } A = r, B = s, \end{cases}$$

where  $A, B (A \neq B), ... = 1, ..., n_1, n_1 + 1, ..., n_1 + n_2; a, b, ... = 1, ..., n_1, and <math>r, s, ... = n_1 + 1, ..., n_1 + n_2.$ 

Taking now into account the form of the curvature tensor of a Riemannian product, its Ricci tensor satisfies

$$\begin{split} S_{A\bar{B}} &= \sum_{C} R_{\bar{B}AC\bar{C}} = \sum_{a} R_{\bar{B}Aa\bar{a}} + \sum_{r} R_{\bar{B}Ar\bar{r}} \\ &= \begin{cases} \frac{n_1+1}{2} c_1 \delta_{bc} & \text{if } B=c, \ A=b, \\ 0 & \text{if } B=s, \ A=b, \\ \frac{n_2+1}{2} c_2 \delta_{ts} & \text{if } B=s, \ A=t. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Thus for the case where  $(n_1 + 1)c_1 \neq (n_2 + 1)c_2$ ,  $\mathbb{C}P^{n_1}(c_1) \times \mathbb{C}P^{n_2}(c_2)$  is not Einstein.

Now we come back to Theorem 5.2.1. Since a complete Kaehler manifold  $\widetilde{M}$  under the assumptions of that result, is known to be Einstein and its scalar curvature r is a positive constant, its Ricci tensor is clearly positive definite. Thus by using the classical Myers theorem we can assert that  $\widetilde{M}$  must be compact. Next let us recall a result of S.I. Goldberg and S. Kobayashi [17], stated in a slight different form to the original one.

Theorem 5.2.4. An n-dimensional compact connected Kaehler manifold with an Einstein metric and of positive totally real bisectional curvature must be globally isometric to the complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  with its Fubini-Study metric.

Though in the original result in [17] was assumed positive holomorphic bisectional curvature, it can be easily checked that the conclusion in Theorem 5.2.4 also holds if we assume positive totally real bisectional curvature. Thus combining Theorems 5.2.1 and 5.2.4 we can state the following result [24],

THEOREM 5.2.5. Let  $\widetilde{M}$  be an  $n(\geq 3)$ -dimensional complete Kaehler manifold with constant scalar curvature. Assume that its totally real bisectional

curvature is lower bounded for some positive constant b. Then  $\widetilde{M}$  is globally isometric to  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  with its Fubini-Study metric.

5.3. SPACELIKE COMPLEX SUBMANIFOLDS WITH LOWER BOUNDED TOTALLY REAL BISECTIONAL CURVATURE. Let  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ , c<0, be the (n+p)-dimensional indefinite complex hyperbolic space of index 2p(>0), and let M be an  $n(\geq 3)$ -dimensional spacelike complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ . Then, from the Gauss equation (2.3.23) we get

$$R_{\bar{i}ij\bar{j}} = \frac{c}{2} - \sum_{x} \epsilon_x h_{ij}^x \bar{h}_{ij}^x \ge \frac{c}{2}, \tag{5.3.1}$$

where we have used the fact that  $\epsilon_x = -1$ , for all x, because the normal space of M is negative definite.

Now we will give here some remarks on the totally real bisectional curvature for complex submanifolds of indefinite complex space forms.

Remark 5.3.1. (a) For a complex submanifold M of a (positive definite) complex space form  $\widetilde{M}^{n+p}(c)$ , from (2.3.23) we have

$$R_{\bar{i}ij\bar{j}} = \frac{c}{2} - \sum_{x} h_{ij}^{x} \bar{h}_{ij}^{x} \le \frac{c}{2}.$$

As it was shown in Example 2.3.3, the totally real bisectional curvature B of the complex quadric  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  in  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+1}(c)$  satisfies  $0 \le B \le \frac{c}{2}$ . Moreover, the holomorphic sectional curvature H of  $\mathbb{C}Q^n$  is holomorphically pinched as  $\frac{c}{2} \le H \le c$ , [42].

- (b) From Theorem 4.3.1 we know that if M is a complete spacelike complex submanifold of an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$  with  $c \ge 0$ , then, M is totally geodesic. Thus, its totally real bisectional curvature satisfies  $B = \frac{c}{2}$ .
- (c) Suppose that an n-dimensional indefinite complex space form  $M_s^n(c)$  admits a holomorphic isometric immersion into an indefinite complex space form  $\widetilde{M}_{s+p}^{n+p}(c')$ ,  $c'\neq 0$ . Making use of Proposition 4.2.3, we can assert that if c'>0, then c'=c. Thus M is totally geodesic and  $B=\frac{c'}{2}$ . On the other hand, if c'<0, then c'=c or c0, then c0 and thus c0 and thus c1 be a constant only when c2 and thus c3 be a constant of c4.
- (d) Let  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n$  be the spacelike complex quadric of the complex hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{C}H_1^{n+1}(c)$ , c < 0. Recall that  $\mathbb{C}Q'^n$  is Einstein, and that (see Example 2.3.32) its totally real bisectional curvature satisfies  $\frac{c}{2} \leq B \leq 0$ .

Therefore, there is no meaning to consider complete spacelike submanifolds of  $\widetilde{M}_p^{n+p}(c)$ ,  $c \ge 0$ , with lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature. Thus, we are focusing now on

The classification problem of the complete spacelike submanifolds of  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ , c<0, with lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature.

So, suppose that there exists  $b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$R_{\bar{i}ij\bar{j}} \ge b$$
 for any  $i, j \ (i \ne j)$ . (5.3.2)

From this assumption and (5.3.1) it follows that

$$2\sum_{x} \epsilon_{x} h_{ij}^{x} \bar{h}_{ij}^{x} \le c - 2b \quad \text{for any} \quad i, j \quad (i \ne j), \tag{5.3.3}$$

where recall that now and in the following reasoning  $\epsilon_x = -1$ , for all x.

Making use of (2.3.20), the above formulas and Lemma 5.2.2, we deduce

$$2nb \le \sum_{j} R_{\bar{j}jj\bar{j}} \le n(n+1)\frac{c}{2} - h_2 - n(n-1)b.$$

Thus we have

$$2h_2 \le n(n+1)(c-2b),\tag{5.3.4}$$

where the above equality holds if and only if  $R_{\bar{j}jj\bar{j}} = 2b$  for any j. That is, M is of constant holomorphic sectional curvature 2b.

On the other hand, by using Lemma 5.3.2 and (2.3.20), we have that

$$(n-2)R_{\bar{j}jj\bar{j}} \ge (n-1)(n+4)b - n(n+1)\frac{c}{2} + h_2.$$
 (5.3.5)

Using (2.3.19), the holomorphic sectional curvature  $R_{\bar{j}jj\bar{j}}$  equals to  $c + \sum_x h_{jj}^x \bar{h}_{jj}^x$ , from which it follows that

$$-\sum_{x} h_{jj}^{x} \bar{h}_{jj}^{x} = c - R_{\bar{j}jj\bar{j}} \le \frac{(n-1)(n+4)(c-2b) - 2h_2}{2(n-2)} . \tag{5.3.6}$$

With these estimates previously given, it is shown in [24] the following,

THEOREM 5.3.2. Let M be an  $n(\geq 3)$ -dimensional complete complex submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}H_p^{n+p}(c)$ , p>0, with totally real bisectional curvature  $\geq b$ . Then the following assertions hold:

(1) b is smaller than or equal to c/4.

- (2) If b = c/4, then M is a complex space form of holomorphic sectional curvature c/2,  $p \ge n(n+1)/2$ .
- (3) If b = n(n+p+1)c/2(n+2p)(n+1), then M is a complex space form of holomorphic sectional curvature c/2, p = n(n+1)/2.
- 5.4. Complex submanifolds with lower bounded totally real bisectional curvature of definite complex space forms. In this last section, as an application to the previous development, we will study n-dimensional complex submanifolds M of an (n+p)-dimensional complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+p}(c), c>0$ , with bounded totally real bisectional curvature. Of course, in this case all the signs  $\epsilon_i$  and  $\epsilon_x$  in formulas (2.3.18) and (2.3.19) are just +1.

Let us recall that, as in Chapter 2,  $h_2$  denotes the function  $h_2 = \sum_{i,j,x} h_{ij}^x \bar{h}_{ij}^x$ . Thus by using (2.3.21) and (2.3.22) we have

$$(h_2)_{k\bar{l}} = \sum h_{ij;k}^x \bar{h}_{ij;l}^x + \sum \left\{ \frac{c}{2} \left( h_{ij}^x \delta_{kl} + h_{jk}^x \delta_{il} + h_{ki}^x \delta_{jl} \right) \bar{h}_{ij}^x - \left( h_{ri}^x h_{jk}^y + h_{rj}^x h_{ki}^y + h_{rk}^x h_{ij}^y \right) \bar{h}_{rl}^y \bar{h}_{ij}^x \right\}.$$
(5.4.1)

As in section 3.5, we consider now the function  $h_4 = \sum h_{i\bar{j}}^2 h_{j\bar{i}}^2 = \sum h_{i\bar{j}}^x h_{jk}^y h_{kl}^y \bar{h}_{il}^y$ . Now, from (5.4.1) and using again (2.3.22), we can compute the Laplacian of  $h_4$  (see [24]) as follows

$$\triangle h_4 = 2 \sum \left\{ \frac{n+2}{2} c h_{ij}^x - (h_{ir}^x h_{j\bar{r}}^2 + h_{jr}^x h_{i\bar{r}}^2 + A_z^x h_{ij}^z) \right\} \bar{h}_{jk}^x h_{kl}^y \bar{h}_{li}^y + \sum \left( h_{ij;m}^x \bar{h}_{jk;m}^x h_{k\bar{i}}^2 + h_{ij;m}^x \bar{h}_{jk}^x h_{kl}^y \bar{h}_{li;m}^y \right).$$

By using these formulas we have the following result (see Ki and the second author [24]).

THEOREM 5.4.1. Let M be an  $n(\geq 3)$ -dimensional complete complex submanifold of a complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{n+p}(c)$ . If there exists a positive constant b such that  $b > \frac{n^3 + 2n^2 + 2n - 2}{2n(n^2 + 2n + 3)}c$  and the totally real bisectional curvature of M is greater than or equal to b, then M is totally geodesic, hence a complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^n(c)$ .

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the referee for his/her several useful comments.

## References

- AIYAMA, R., IKAWA, T., KWON, J.H., NAKAGAWA, H., Complex hypersurfaces in an indefinite complex space form, *Tokyo J. Math.*, 10 (1987), 349-361.
- [2] AIYAMA, R., KWON, J.H., NAKAGAWA, H., Complex submanifolds of an indefinite complex space form, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc., 2 (1987), 43-67.
- [3] AIYAMA, R., NAKAGAWA, H., SUH, Y.J., Semi-Kaehlerian submanifolds of an indefinite complex space form, *Kodai Math. J.*, **11** (1988), 325–343.
- [4] ALÍAS, L.J., ROMERO, A., Integral formulas for compact spacelike *n*-submanifolds in de Sitter spaces: Applications to the parallel mean curvature vector case, *Manuscripta Math.*, **87** (1995), 405–416.
- [5] ALÍAS, L.J., ESTUDILLO, F.J.M., ROMERO, A., Spacelike submanifolds with parallel mean curvature in pseudo-Riemannian space forms, *Tsukuba J. Math.*, 21 (1997), 169–179.
- [6] DE ANDRÉS, L.C., FERNÁNDEZ, M., GRAY, A., MENCÍA, J.J., Compact manifolds with indefinite Kaehler metric, in "Proceedings of the Sixth International Colloquium on Differential Geometry (Santiago de Compostela, 1988), Cursos Congr. Univ. Santiago de Compostela 61", 1989, 25-50.
- [7] BARROS, M., ROMERO, A., Indefinite Kaehler manifolds, Math. Ann., 281 (1982), 55–62.
- [8] BERARD-BERGERY, L., Sur the courbure des métriques riemanniannes invariantes des groupes de Lie et des espaces homogenes, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup., 11 (1978), 543-576.
- [9] BERGER, M., Les espaces symétriques non compacts, Ann. Ecole Norm., 12 (1957), 885–917.
- [10] BISHOP, R.L., GOLDBERG, S.I., Some implications of the generalized Gauss-Bonnet theorem, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **112** (1964), 508–535.
- [11] Cahen, M., Parker, M., Sur des classes d'espaces pseudo-riemannienes symétriques, Bull. Sci. Math. Belg. Ser. A, 12 (1970), 339-354.
- [12] Calabi, E., Isometric imbeddings of complex manifolds, Ann. of Math., 58 (1953), 1–23.
- [13] CHEN, B-Y., CR-submanifolds of a Kaehler manifold, I, J. Differential Geom., 16 (1981), 305-322.
- [14] CORDERO, L., FERNÁNDEZ, M., GRAY, A., The failure of complex and symplectic manifolds to be Kählerian, *Proc. Symposia in Pure Math.*, **54–2** (1993), 107–123.
- [15] DUGGAL, K.L., BEJANCU, A., "Light-like Submanifolds of Semi-Riemannian Manifolds and Applications", Math. Appl. Kluwer Acad. Publ. Group 364, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [16] Graves, L., Nomizu, K., Isometric immersions of Lorentzian space forms, *Math. Ann.*, **12** (1978), 339–354.
- [17] GOLDBERG, S.I., KOBAYASHI, S., Holomorphic bisectional curvature, J. Differential Geom., 1 (1967), 225–234.
- [18] HOUH, C.S., On totally real bisectional curvature, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **56** (1976), 261–263.

- [19] Hulin, D., Complex Einstein submanifolds of projective space, Bul. Soc. Math. France, 124 (1996), 277–298.
- [20] IKAWA, T., NAKAGAWA, H., ROMERO, A., Product complex submanifolds of an indefinite complex space forms, Rocky Mountain J. Math., 18 (1988), 601-615.
- [21] ISHIHARA, T., Maximal spacelike submanifolds of a pseudo-Riemannian space of constant curvature, *Michigan Math. J.*, **35** (1988), 345–352.
- [22] Kaiser, G., Holomorphic gauge theory, in "Proc. of NSF-CBMS Conf. Lowell, Lecture Notes in Math. Springer-Verlag 775", (1979), 122–143.
- [23] KI, U.H., NAKAGAWA, H., Complex submanifolds of an indefinite Kaehler-Einstein manifold, J. Korean Math. Soc., 25 (1988), 1-10.
- [24] KI, U.H., SUH, Y.J., On semi-Kaehler manifolds whose totally real bisectional curvature is bounded from below, J. Korean Math. Soc., 33 (1996), 1009-1038.
- [25] KOBAYASHI, S., NOMIZU, K., "Foundations of Differential Geometry II", Interscience Publ., New York, 1969.
- [26] Kon, M., Complex submanifolds with constant scalar curvature in a Kaehler manifold, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 27 (1975), 76–80.
- [27] KUPELI, D.N., "Singular Semi-Riemannian Manifolds and Applications", Math. Appl. Kluwer Acad. Publ. Group, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [28] KWON, J.H., NAKAGAWA, H., Spacelike complex hypersurfaces of a complex Lorentz manifold, Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 26 (1989), 75–82.
- [29] MAGID, M.A., Shape operators of Einstein hypersurfaces in indefinite space forms, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **84** (1982), 237–242.
- [30] MAGID, M.A., Indefinite Einstein hypersurfaces with imaginary principal curvatures, *Houston J. of Math.*, **10** (1984), 57–61.
- [31] MAGID, M.A., Indefinite Einstein hypersurfaces with nilpotent shape operators, *Hokkaido Math. J.*, **13** (1984), 241–250.
- [32] Maltsev, A.I., "Foundations of Linear Algebra", W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco, 1969.
- [33] Matsushita, Y., Fields of 2-planes and two kinds of almost complex structures on compact 4-dimensional manifolds, *Math. Z.*, **207** (1991), 281–291.
- [34] Matsuyama, Y., On a 2-dimensional Einstein Kaehler submanifold of a complex space form, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **95** (1985), 595–603.
- [35] MONTIEL, S., ROMERO, A., Complex Einstein hypersurfaces of indefinite complex space forms, *Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc.*, **94** (1983), 495–508.
- [36] NAKAGAWA, H., OGIUE, K., Complex space forms immersed in complex space forms, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **219** (1976), 289–297.
- [37] NAKAGAWA, H., TAKAGI, R., On locally symmetric Kaehler submanifolds in a complex projective space, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 28 (1976), 638–667.
- [38] NISHIKAWA, S., On maximal spacelike hypersurfaces in a Lorentzian manifold, Nagoya Math. J., 95 (1984), 117–124.
- [39] NOMIZU, K., On hypersurfaces satisfying a certain condition on the curvature tensor, *Tôhoku Math. J.*, **20** (1968), 46–59.
- [40] Nomizu, K., On the rank and curvature of non-singular complex hypersurfaces in complex projective space, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 21 (1968), 266–269.

- [41] Nomizu, K., Smyth, B., Differential geometry of complex hypersurfaces II, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 20 (1968), 498-521.
- [42] OGIUE, K., Differential Geometry of Kaehler submanifolds, Adv. Math., 20 (1974), 73-114.
- [43] OMORI, H., Isometric immersions of Riemannian manifolds J. Math. Soc. Japan, 19 (1967), 205–211.
- [44] O'NEILL, B., "Semi-Riemannian Geometry with Applications to Relativity", Academic Press, New York-London, 1983.
- [45] POOR, W.A., "Differential Geometric Structures", McGraw Hill, New York, 1981.
- [46] ROMERO, A., On a certain class of complex Einstein hypersurfaces in indefinite complex space forms, *Math. Z.*, **192** (1986), 627–635.
- [47] ROMERO, A., Some examples of indefinite complete complex Einstein hypersurfaces not locally symmetric, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **98** (1986), 283–286.
- [48] ROMERO, A., An extension of Calabi's rigidity theorem to complex submanifolds of indefinite complex space form, Manuscripta Math., 59 (1987), 261–276.
- [49] Ros, A., Positively curved Kaehler submanifolds, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **93** (1985), 329–331.
- [50] Ros, A., Kaehler submanifolds in the complex projective space, in "Differential Geometry Peñiscola 1985, Lecture Notes in Math. Springer Verlag 1209", 1986, 259 – 274.
- [51] RYAN, P.J., Hypersurfaces with parallel Ricci tensor, Osaka J. Math., 27 (1971), 251–259.
- [52] RYAN, P.J., A class of complex hypersurfaces, *Colloq. Math.*, **26** (1982), 175–182.
- [53] SMYTH, B., Differential geometry of complex hypersurfaces, Ann. of Math., 85 (1967), 246-276.
- [54] SMYTH, B., Homogeneous complex hypersurfaces, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 19 (1968), 643-647.
- [55] SZABÓ, Z.I., Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying R(X,Y).R=0 I. The local version, J. Differential Geom., 17 (1982), 531–582
- [56] TAKAHASHI, T., Hypersurface with parallel Ricci tensor in a space of constant holomorphic sectional curvature, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 19 (1967), 199–204.
- [57] TAKAHASHI, T., Complex hypersurfaces with RS = 0 in  $C^{n+1}$ ,  $T\hat{o}hoku\ Math.$  J., **25** (1973), 527-533.
- [58] TSUKADA, K., Einstein Kaehler submanifolds with codimension 2 in a complex space form, *Math. Ann.*, **274** (1986), 503–516.
- [59] UMEHARA, M., Einstein Kaehler submanifolds of a complex linear or hyperbolic space, Tôhoku Math. J., 39 (1987), 385-389.
- [60] UMEHARA, M., Diastasis and real analytic functions on complex manifolds, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 40 (1988), 519-539.
- [61] WOLF, J.A., "Spaces of Constant Curvature", McGraw-Hill, New-York, 1967.
- [62] YAU, S.T., Harmonic functions on complete Riemannian manifolds, Comm. Pure and Appl. Math., 28 (1975), 201–228.